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FINAL OQORDER

THIS CAUSE came before the BOARD OF MEDICINE (Board)

pursuant to Sections 120.569 and 120.57(1), Florida Statutes, on

August 6, 2004, in Tallahassee, Florida, for the purpose of

congidering the Administrative Law Judge's Recommended Order and
Exceptions to the Recommended Crder, and (copies of which are
attached heretoc as Exhibits A and B, respectively}) in the above-
styled cause. Petitioner was represented by Joy Tootle,
Assistant General Counsel. Respondent was represented by Jon
Pellett, Esguire.

Upon review of the Recommended Order, the argument of the
parties, and after a review of the complete record in this case,
the Board makes the following findings and conclusions.

RULINGS ON_EXCEPTIONS

The Board reviewed the Respondent’s Exceptions and the

Petitioner’s Response to Respondent’s Exceptions and denied the

Exceptions. However the Board accepts the Exception in Paragraph




S of the Recommended Order. The Board determines that Paragraph
9 of the Recommended Order shall read as follows:
“Dr. Cruz treated M.R. for manic-depression from January
1994 until August 2001. During the time that M.R. was under
Dr. Cruz's direct care, Dr. Cruz saw her at least once a

month for pharmacological management and brief reality-
oriented therapy sessions.”

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. The findings of fact set forth in the Recommended Order
are approved and adopted and incorporated herein by reference
with the modification set forth above.

2. There is competent substantial evidence to support the
findings of fact as modified.

CONCIUSIONS OF T.AW

1. The Board has jurisdiction of this matter pursuant to
Section 120.57 (1), Florida Statutes, and Chapter 458, Florida
Statutes.

2. The conclusions of law set forth in the Recommended.
Order are approved and adopted and incorporated herein by
reference.

PENALTY

Upon a complete review of the record in this case, the Board
determines that the penalty recommended by the Administrative Law
Judge be ACCEPTED. WHEREFORE,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Respondent’s license

to practice medicine in the State of Florida is hereby REVOKED.
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(NOTE: SEE ATTACHMENT “A”" FOR STANDARD TERMS APPLICABLE TO ALL
FINAL ORDERS. UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED BY FINAL ORDER, THE
STANDARD TERMS SET FORTH THE REQUIREMENTS FOR PERFORMANCE OF ALL
PENALTIES CONTAINED IN THIS FINAL ORDER.)

This Final Order shall take effect upon being filed with the

Clerk of the Department of Health.

DONE AND ORDERED this iz day of G T

2004 .

BOARD OF MEDICINE

Larry McPherson, Jr., Executive Director
for Elisabeth Tucker, M.D., Chair

NOTICE OF HT T i EW

A PARTY WHO IS ADVERSELY AFFECTED BY THIS FINAL ORDER IS ENTITLED
TO JUDICIAL REVIEW PURSUANT TO SECTION 120.68, FLORIDA STATUTES.
REVIEW PROCEEDINGS ARE GOVERNED BY THE FLORIDA RULES OF APPELLATE
PROCEDURE. SUCH PROCEEDINGS ARE COMMENCED BY FILING ONE COPY OF
A NOTICE OF APPEAL WITH THE AGENCY CLERK OF THE DEPARTMENT OF
HEALTH AND A SECOND COPY, ACCCMPANIED BY FILING FEES PRESCRIBED
BY LAW, WITH THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, OR
WITH THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE APPELLATE DISTRICT WHERE
THE PARTY RESIDES. THE NOTICE OF APPEAL MUST BE FILED WITHIN
THIRTY (30} DAYS OF RENDITION COF THE CRDER TO BE REVIEWED.




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the
foregoing Final Order has been provided by U.S5. Mail to JOSE
ANTRBAY, CRUZ, M.D.,1540 Washington Avenue, Miami Beach, Florida
33139; to Jon Pellett, Esguire, Barr, Murman, et al., 201 E.
Kenmnedy Boulevard, Suite 1700, Tampa, Florida 33602; to Larry J.
Sartin, Administrative Law Judge, Divigion of Administrative
Hearings, The DeScto Building, 1230 Apalachee Parkway,
Tallahassee, Florida 32398-3060; and by intercoffice delivery to
Ephraim Livingston, and Pamela Page, Department of Health, 4052

Bald Cypress Way, Bin #C-65, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-3265 this

{ 2 day of Zf%Z%aﬁﬁéz , 2004.

ica. Yrinl
Deputy Agency Cler®
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STATE OF FLORIDA
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH,
BOARD OF MEDICINE,

Petitioner,
vs. Case No. 03-0056FL
JOSE ANIBAL CRUZ, M.D.,

Respondent .

RECOMMENDED ORDER

Pursuant to notice, a formal hearing was held in this case
before Larry J. Sartin, an Administrative Law Judge of the
Division of Administrative Hearings, in Miami, Florida, on
April 10 and 11, 2003, and January 28, 2004.

APPERRANCES

For Petitioner: Kim M. Kluck, Esquire
Joy L. Dose, Esquire
Trisah D. Bowles, Esquire
Prosecution Services Unit
Department of Health
4052 Bald Cypress Way, Bin C-65
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-3265

For Respondent: Jom M. Pellett, Esquire
Barr, Murman, Tonelli, Slother
& Sleet, P.A.
201 Bast Kennedy Boulevard, Suite 1700
Tampa, Florida 33602 :
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The issue in this case is whether Respondent, Jose Anibal
€ruz, M.D., committed the violations alleged in an
Administrative Complaint filed by Petitioner, the Department of
Health, on December 30, 2002, and, if so, what disciplinary
action should be taken against him.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

On or about December 30, 2002, the Department of Health
filed a four-count Administrative Complaint against Jose Anibal
Cruz, M.D., a Florida-licensed physician, before the Board of
Medicine. On or about January 8, 2003, Dr. Cruz, through
counsel, mailed a Request for Pormal Hearing, indicating that he
disputed all material facts alleged in the aAdministrative
Complaint, except those pertaining to jurisdiction and
licensure, and requesting a formal administrative hearing
pursuant to Section 120.569(2) (a), Florida Statutes {2002). On
January 9, 2003, the matter was filed with the Division of
Administrative Hearings, with a request that the case bhe
assigned to an administrative law judge. The matter was
designated DOAH Case No. 03-0056PL, was initially assigned to
Administrative Law Judge Claude B. Arrington, and was later
transferred to the undersigned.

The final hearing was scheduled by Notice of Hearing

entered January 24, 2003, for April 10 apd 11, 2003. Shortly
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before commencement of the final hearing, Petitioner Filed

Petitioner's Motion to Preclude Respondent's Testimony or Motion
in Limine, along with a Memorandum in Support of Motion to
Preclude or Motion in Limine. 1In this Motion Petitiomer sought
an order prohibiting Respondent from testifying at the final
hearing due to the assertion of his right to remain silent,
guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment to the United States
Constitution, and Article I, Section 9 of the Florida
Constitution {hereinafter referred to as the "Fifth Amendment
Privilege" or "Privilege"), on some, but not all, of the
questions posed by Petitiomer during the portion of Respondent‘'s
deposition taken on March 25, 2003. Petitioner sought the
preclusion of Respondent's testimony as a sanction, relying upon
Florida Administrative Code Rule 28-106.206.

When the final hearing commenced on April 10, 2003, it was
also learned that Petitioner would reguire additional time to
pursue discovery due to the fact that Respondent had provided
newly discovered medical records pertinent to this case Just
before the commencement of the hearing. The delay in the
completion of the final hearing created an opportunity: (1} to
review each of the questions for which Respondent had asserted a
Fifth Amendment Privilege during his deposition and determine
whether the Privilege was properly asserted; (2} to give

Petitioner an opportunity to have Respondent answer any
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questions for which the Fifth Amendment Privilege was improperly

asserted; and {3) to then decide whether any sanctions should be
impoged on Respondent.
The March 25, 2003, portion of Respondent's deposition was

reviewed and, on April 18, 2003, an Order Concerning

Petitioner's Motien to Preclude Respondent's Testimony or Motion
in Limine was entered. In this Order, the parties were informed
of the legal conclusions’ reached by the undersigned concerning a
regpondent's right to assert a Fifth Amendment Privilege in
administrative proceedings, the specific questions for which
Respondent had asserted the Fifth Amendment Privilege were
identified, and, based upon the legal conclusions explained in
the Order, the Respondent was informed that he must answer the
questions or, if he refused to do so, "appropriate sanctions may
be imposed.” A ruling on Petitioner's Motion to Preclude
Respondent's Testimony or Motlon in Limine was reserved until
Respondent had had an opportunity to respond to the questions
for which the Fifth Amendment Privilege had been asserted and
any reasonable follow-up questions by Petiticner.?

In response to the April 18, 2003, Order Respuondent filed
Respondent's Motion for Stay Regarding the April 18, 2003 Order

Concerning Petitiomer’s Motion to Preclude Respondent’s

Testimony or Motion in Limine. Respondent represented that he

intended to file an interlocutory appeal of the April 18, 2003,
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Order and, therefore, requested that the casze be stayed pending
that appeal. Petitioner filed Petiticner's Response to
Respondent's Motion for Stay Regarding the April 18, 2003, Oxder
indicating that Petitioner had no objection to a stay of those
matters which were direc;ly impacted by the Order.

On April 30, 2003, an Order Granting, in Part, Respondent's
Motion for Stay was entered. The Motion was granted "to the
extent agreed to by Petitioner." oOn September 26, 2003, the
District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third bistrict, issued an
order denying Respondent's petition for writ of certiorari.

After receiving input from the parties, an Amended Notice
of Hearing was entered scheduling the remainder of the final
hearing for January 28 and 29, 2004.

Prior te the commencement of the final hearing, official
recognition was taken of Florida Administrative Code Rules 59R-
8.001L (Rev. 6/97), 64B8-8.001 {Rev. 5/98, Rev. 2/00, and
Rev. 2.01), and 64B8-9.008, and Section 458.32%, Florida
Statutes.

At the final hearing Petitioner presented the testimony of
Herb Graner, M.R., James Wright, Luis Vvilla, Martha Garcia,
Mercedes Morel, Michele Flores, and Jose A. Melende=z.
Petitioner‘s Exhibits I through 9 were admitted. Petitioner’s
exhibits irnc]luded the deposition testimony of Oscar Santa Maria,

taken August 17, 2601, and the deposition testimony of George
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Joseph, M.D. Respondent presented the testimony of M.R.,
Fancisco J. Pages, M.D.; Aurora Thomas; Ms. Morel; Lyudmila
Litvinova; Geroge E. Lopez; Julian Nodarse, M.D.; and

Ms. Flores. Respondent's Exhibits 1 through 3, 5 through 8, and
12 through 19 were admitted. Respondent's exhibits included the
deposition testimony of Manuel Dominguez, M.D., taken April 7,
2003; the deposition testimony of Dr. Joseph, taken March 14,
2003; the deposition testimony of Daisy Quintanilla, taken
April 24, 2003; and the deposition testimony of Diana Baralt,
M.D., taken Aril 24, 2003. Respondent's Exhibit 4 was marked
for identification purposes, but not cffered. Respondent’s
Exhibits 9 through 11 were proffered. Finally, four Joint
Exhibits were admitted, including the deposition testimony of
Mr. Villa, taken March 27, 2003.

Respondent also intended to offer the testimony of several
witnesses who, it was concluded, would provide testimony
cumulative to some of Respondent’s witnesses who did testify.
Rather than require that these witnesses appear, Respondent made
a proffer of their testimony which, it was agreed, would be
treated as if they had actually testified.

At the conclusion of the final hearing of this matter, it
was agreed that all exhibits filed in this matter would be
considered confidential due to the inclusion of patient

identifying information. All of those exhibits, which will be




403

released to Petitioner with this Recommended Order, have been
treated as confidential by the Division of Administrative
Hearings and have not been disclosed.

The two-volume Transcript of the portion of the final

hearing conducted on April 10 and 11, 2003, was filed on

December 1, 2003, and the one-volume Transcript of the portion

of the final hearing conducted on January 28, 2004, was filed on
March 8, 2004. The partieg, pursuant to agreement, therefore,
had until Marxch 19, 2004, to file proposed recoumended orders.
Both parties timely filed Proposed Recommended Orders, which
have been fully considered in entering this Recommended COrder.

FINDINGS OF FACT

A. The Parties.

1. Petitioner, the Department of Health (hereinafter
referred to as the "Department®}, is the agency of the State of
Florida charged with the responsibility for the investigation
and prosecution of complaints involving physicians licensed to
practice in Florida.

2. Respondent, Jose Anibal Cruz, M.D., is, and was at the
times material to this matter, a physician licensed to practice
medicine in Florida, having been licensed in Florida since 1975.

Hig license number is 0025019.




3. Dr. Cruz received his medical degree in October 1967.

He has been practicing medicine for a period of 36 years,
including his time in training.

4. During his career, Dr. Cruz has served as Chief of
Geriatric Psychiatry at South Shore Hospital, Miami, Florida,
and as Medical Director of the Psychiatric Out-Patient
Rehabilitation Program with South Shore Hospital and the
University of Miami.

B. Dr. Cruz's Practice.

5. At the times material to this matter, Dr. Cruz
specialized in the practice of general psychiatry.?

6. At the times material to this matter, Dr. Cruz
maintained an office at either 8740 North Kendall Drive, Miami,
Florida, or 1540 Washington Avenue, Miami Beach, Florida.*

C. Patient M.R.

7. ©On or about January 4, 1994, Dr. Cruz began providing
care to M.R., a female, who was born on May 21, 15862. ¥When she
began seeing Dr. Cruz for treatment, she was 31 years of age.
When M.R. diecontinued receiving treatment from Dr. Cruz on or
about August 16, 2001, she was 39 years of age.

8. When M.R. first presented to Dr. Cruz, she had a
history of bipolar disorder and manic-depressive disorder. M.R.

was considered disabled due to her bipolar disorder. She
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complained of symptoms indicative of depression. Dr. Cruz
diagnosed M.R. with manic-depregaive illness, in remission.

9. Dr. Cruz treated M.R. for manic-depression from January
1594 until August 2001, seeing her at least once a month for
pharmacological management® and brief reality-oriented therapy
sessions.

10. From the beginning of Dr. Cruz's treatment of M.R., he
began waking inappropriate, flirtatious comments to her,
including comments about her hair and physical appearance.

11. Dr. Cruz also began to hug M.R. and on several

cdccasions, he became sexually arocused to a point where M.R.

could feel his erect penis.

12. Dr. Cruz eventually began toc ask M.R. to bring him
Pictures of herself wearing a bathing suit or in the nude.

13. After Dr. Cruz moved his office to the Miamli Beach
location, Dr. Cruz began to masturbate in front of M.R. during
her visits.

14. Eventually, Dr. Cruz asked M.R. to perform oral sex on
him during her vielts, a regquest that she cbeyed.

15. On five occasions, Dr. Cruz hospitalized M.R. in the
peychiatric unit at Cedars Medical Center (hereinafter referred
to as the "Psychiatric Unit"), where Dr. Cruz regularly

performed rounds.



16. Patients in the Pgychiatric Unit were wonitored on a
regular bagis. Staff conducted rounds with each patient at 15-
minute intervals, begimming on the hour. The nursing station
also had an avdioc monitoring system, which allowed the nurses to
listen in on a patient's room. Only one room could be monitored
at a time, however.®

17. When a physician was with a patient in the Psychiatric
Unit, staff generally would not interrupt the physician,
although the door to the patient's room wag usually left open in
case the physician has any difficulty with the patient,

18. Each patient in the Psychiatric Unit bhad a private
room, with a private bathroowm. There was a door on the room and
the bathroom, but neither could ke locked from the inside. If a
patient was in the bathroom when staff made rounds, staff would
knock on the door, but not open it if the patient responded.

19. During some of the times when M.R, was hospitalized in
the Psychiatric Unit, Dr. Cruz would telephone her, tell her
when he would be making rounds, and tell her to be in the shower
bathing when he arrived. She would conply with his directions
and when he arrived, he would enter the bathroom where he would
masturbate while watching M.R. bakthing.

20. Dr. Cruz would also masturbate in front of M.R. while
visiting her in the Psychiatric Unit at times other than when

she was instructed to be in the shower.
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21. Dr. Cruz's inappropriate behavior eventually
progressed to having sexual intercourse with M.RE. Dr. Cruz, in
order to facilitate their sexual relationship,‘told M.R. ko
start coming in as the last patient of the day.” After hex
appointment, M.R. would leave the office, Dr. Cruz would pick
her up around the corner from the office, and he would take her
to the Starlite East Motel (hereinafter referred to as the
"Starlite®),

22. On other occasions, Dr. Cruz would have M.R. wait for
him at a Winn-Dixie grocery store (hereinafter referred to as
the Y"Grocery Store"} located on Northwest 12th Avenue, close to
Cedars Medical Center. On these occasions, Dr. Cruz would pick
up M.R. and take her to the Starlite.

23. The Starlite, located at 135 Southwest Bth Street,
Miami, Florida, is a motel where rcoms may be rented by the hour
or longer periods of time, including overnight. Greater than
three-fourths of the Starlite's guests rent by the hour.

24. On tho=se cccasions when Dr. Cruz took M.R, to the
Starlite, he would usually park his car in the motel parking
lot, leave her in his car, ?egister for a room, using a
fictitious name,® and then park his car nearer the room.

25. While at the Starlite, Dr. Cruz and M.R. would engage

in sexual intercourse.
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26. On one occasion, after engaging in sexual intercourse

at the Starlite, Dr. Cruz gave M.R. two twenty-dollar bills
which he told her to use to buy hergpelf something.? M.R.
declined taking the money.

27. Dr. Cruz. engaged in sexual intercourse with M.R. on
as many as 25 to 30 occasions.

D. Surveillance of Dr. Cruz and M.R.

28. At some time during 2001, M.R. confessed her sexual
relationship with Dr. Cruz to a friend, who suggested that what
bPr. Cruz was doing was wrong and that she should sue him. M.R.
took her friend's advice, selected a law firm out of the phone
book, and contacted an attormey.

29. After telling the attorney about her sexual
relationship with Dr. Cruz, the actorney hired a private
investigator to conduct video surveillance of M.R. and Dr. Cruz.

30. The private investigator arranged a meeting with M.R.
during August 2001 to discuss the surveillance. M.R. met with
two investigators and discussed her relationship with Dr. Cruz
and their routine. It was decided that a rendezvous would be
arranged with Dr. Cruz on August 16, 2001, a date on which M.R.
had an appointment to see Dr. Cruz to renew a medication
prescription. It was expected that M.R. would leave the office
and that Dr. Cruz would then pick her up arcund the corner and

take her to the Starlite.

12
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31. The investigators were positicned outside Dr. Cruz's

office on Rugust 16, 2001, at the time of her appointment.

Dr. Cruz, however, told M.R. to telephone him later to make
arrangements to meet the following day, instead of going to the
Starlite the day of her appointment. When she told him she did
not have any minutes on her cellular telephone,'® Dr. Cruz, as he
often had before, gave her $50.00 to purchase minutes to be used
on the phone.?

32. Upon leaving the office, M.R. went to a nearby store
where she purchased cellular telephone minutes. One of the
private investigators, who was expecting M.R. to be picked up by
Dr. Cruz and was, therefore, watching the office that day,
followed M.R. When he saw her go intoc the store, he followed
her in. The investigator approached M.R. and she told him that
Dr. Cruz had told her that he could not take her to the Starlite
that day.

33. M.R. and the investigator left the store and went to
lunch, where they were joined by the second investigater. While
at lunch, Dr. Cruz called M.R. on her cellular phone and told
her that he would pick her up at the Grocery Store the following
day, Rugust 17, 2001.%?

34. After the telephone call with Dr. Cruz ended, M.E.
informed the investigators that she had agreed to be picked up

the following day at the Grocery Store.
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35. On August 17, 2001, the two investigators positiocned
themselves in the Grocery Store parking lot where they could see
M.R., who was sitting on a bench in front of the store. They
videc recorded M.R. giving a prearranged signal when Dr. Cruz
first entered the parking lot, stopping to pick up M.R., and
then left. The investigators lost Dr. Cruz in traffic, so they
went directly to the Starlite, where they next recorded
Dr. Cruz's automobile, with Dr. Cruz and M.R. in it, entering
the parking lot.

36. Upon arriving at the Starlite, Dr. Cruz parked his
car, leaving M.R. in it, and proceeded to the office. Upon
returning from the office, getting into his car, starting the
engine, and placing the car in reverse, the investigators drove
up behind his car, blocking his exit. One of the investigators
went to the passenger side of Dr. Cruz's car, took M.R. out, and
then put hexr in the investigators' car,’® and they then departed.

E. The Department's Administrative Complaint and
Dr. Cruz's Recuest for Hearing.

37. On December 30, 2002, after investigating M.R.'s
allegations, the Department filed a four-count Administrative
Complaint against Dr. Cruz alleging that he had: (a} exercised
influence within a patient-physician relaticnship for purposes
of engaging a patient in sexual activity in violation of Section

458.331(1) {j), Florida Statutes (Count One); (b} wviolated the

14
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express prohibition against sexual misconduct set out in Section
458.329, Florida Statutes, and Florida Administrative Code Rule
64B8-9.008 {Count Two); {c) failed to practice medicine with
that level of care, skill, and treatment which is recognized by
a reasgsonably prudent simllar physician as being acceptable under
similar conditions in violation of Section 458.331(1){t),
Florida Statutes (Count Three}; and (d) failed tc keep written
medical records justifying the course of treatment of M.R., in
that his notes are partially illegible and/or are cursory and
generic, in violation of Section 458.331(1) {m), Florida Statutes
{Count Four).

38. On or about January 8, 2003, Dr. Cruz, through
counsel, mailed a Request for Formal Hearing to the Department,
indicating that he disputed all material facts alleged in the
Administrative Complaint, except those pertaining to
jurisdiction and licensure, and regquesting a formal
administrative hearing pursuant to Sectioﬁ 120.563({2) (a},
Florida Statutes (2002)}.

39. On January 9, 2003, the matter was filed with the
Division of Administrative Hearings, with a reguest that the
case be assigned to an administrative law judge. The matter was
designated DOAH Case No. D3-0056PL, was initially assigned to
Administrative lLaw Judge Claude B. Arrington, and was later

transferred to the undersigned.
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F. Counts One through Three; Sexual Misconduct.

40. The first three counts of the Administrative Complaint
are specifically alleged to be based upon the following facts:
a. Demanded oral gex from Patient M.R.
under threat of withholding her

prescriptions;

b. Engaged in sexual intercourse with
Patient M.R.;

c. Masturbated in Patient M.R.'s presence;

d. Invited Patient M.R. to engage in sexual
relations with him and a third party;

e. Asked for naked photographs of Patient
M.R.;: and/or

£. Groped Patient M.R.'s breasts and groin
in his office during sessions.

4. All of these factual allegations, except paragraphs
a., d., and £. have been proved.

42. Physiclans are responsible for waintaining the
appropriate physician-patient relationship, a responsibility
each physician is responsible for understanding. This
relationship involves "boundaries™ which the physician should
understand are not to be crossed.’* Engaging in the activities
listed in finding of fact 40 b. through ¢. and e. with M.R.
constituted the exercise of influence over M.R. within the
patient-physician relationship for the purpose of engaging a

patient in sexual activity.
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43. Trust plays a significant part in the physician-

patient relationship, and especially in the psychotherapist-
patient relationship. According to George M. Joseph, M.D.,
whose testimony has heen credited, trust "plays a very important
role, probably a prime role, primal important role. . . ."

44. There is also a difference in the *power® of the
psychotherapist and the patient. While each has some power,
according to Dr. Joseph, the

doctor, traditionally, is viewed as an

individual with, obviocusly, more of the
power.

He is the treating perscn. He is the one
getting paid. He is the one with the
knowledge and the experience. And he is the
one directing the treatment.

In addition to that, over time in
psychotherapy, he acguires the power of the
patient's transference, which often pictures
him or her in a sort of parental role.

45. Because of the power a psychotherapist has over a
patient, that power can be exploitred to influence a patient to
cross the sexual boundary which the psychotherapist should
maintain. When a psychotherapist crosses that sexual boundary
and exploite a patient, the trust necessary to maintain a proper
psychotherapist-patient relationship is destrayed, the patient

may become traumatized, and a patient with depressive illnesses

may experience an exacerbation of psychotic or manic symptoms.
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46. In this matter, due to the activities described in
finding of fact 40 b. through ¢. and e., Dr. Cruz violated the
proper psychotherapist-patient relationship, abused his power
over patient M.R., exploited her for his own pleasure, destroyed
her trust in him, and caused her emoticnal distress, nightmares,
sleeplessness, confusion, and depression.

47. Dr. Cruz's sexual involvement with M.R. constituted
the exercise of influence within a physician-patient
relationship for purposes of engaging a patient in sexual
activity and constituted sexual misconduct in the practice of
medicine,

48. Dr. Cruz's sexual involvement with M.R., as found in
finding of fact 40 b. through c. and e., constituted the failure
to practice medicine with that level of care, gkill, and
treatment which is recognlzed by a reasonably prudent similar
physician as being acceptable under similaxr conditions and
circumstances.

49 As to paragraph a., supra, while the evidence proved
that Dr. Cruz had M.R. visit his office once a month in order to
obtain a refill of the medications he prescribed for her, the
evidence failed to prove that Dr. Cruz threatened to withhold

her prescriptions if she refused to perform oral sex on him,*®
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G. Count Four; Dr. Cruz's Medical Records.

50. According to Dr. Joseph, whose opinion'® with regard to
Dr. Cruz's medical notes is accepted:

The physician's notes are at bhest only
partially legible to this reviewer. The
notes appear cursory, and generic., They
continually repeat terms such as:
"Depressed, anxicus, tense, despondent,
dejected, hopeless, low self-esteem, sad,
helplessness. There appears to be little
reference in the notes to current life

issues, psychodynamics or specific
medication effects.

Deposition Exhibit 2 to Respondent's Exhibit B.

CONCLUSTIONS OF LAW

A. Jurisdiction.

51. The Division of Adminpistrative Hearings has
jurisdiction over the subject matter of this proceeding and of
the parties thereto pursuant to Sections 120.569 and 120.57(1).,

Florida Statutes.

B. The Charges of the Administrative Complaint.

52. 1In its Administrative Complaint, the Department has
alleged that Dr. Cruz: (a) exercised influence within a
patient-physician relationship for purposes of engaging a
patient in sexual activity in vieclation of Section
458.331(1) {j}, Florida Statutes {Count One}; {b) vioclated the
express prohibkition against sexual misconduct set out in Section

458,329, Florida Statutes, and Florida Administrative Code Rule
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64B8-9.008 (Count Two); (c) failed to practice medicine with

that level of care, skill, and treatment which is recognized by
a reasonably prudent similar physician as being acceptable under
similar conditicons in violation of Section 458.331{1){t),
Florida Statutes {Count Three); and {d) falled to keep written
medical records justifying the course of treatment of M.R., in
that his notes are partially illegible and/or are cursory and

generic, in viclation of Section 458.331(1) (m}, Florida Statutes

{(Count Four)}.

53. Section 458.331(1), Florida Statutes, sets ocut grounds
for the discipline of physicians. In pertinent part, the
following acts constitute grounds for disciplinary action:

(i} Exercising influence within a
patient -physician relationship for purposes
of engaging a patlent in sexual activity. A
patient shall be presumed to be incapable of
giving free, full, and informed consent to
sexual activity with his or her physician.

(m) Falling to keep legible, as defined
by department rule in consultation with the
board, medical records that identify the
licensed physician or the physician extender
and supervising physician by name and
profeseional title who is or are responsible
for rendering, ordering, supervising, or
billing for each diagnostic or treatment
procedure and that justify the course of
treatment of the patient, including, but not
limited to, patient histories; examination
results; test results; records of drugs
prescribed, dispensed, or administered; and

20



reports of consultations and
hospitalizations.

{t} . . . the failure to practice
medicine with that level of care, skill, and
treatment which is recognized by a
reasonably prudent similar physician as
being acceptable under similar conditions
and circumstances.

{x) violating any provision of this
" chapter, a rule of the board or department,
or a lawful order of the hoard or department
previously entered in a disciplinary hearing
or failing to comply with a lawfully issued
subpoena of the department.

54. In support of the allegation that Dr. Cruz violated
Section 458.331{(1) (x}, Florida Statutes, the Department alleged
that he violated Secticn 458.329, Florida Statutes, and Florida
Administrative Code Rule 64B8-95.008.

€. The Burden and Standard of Pxroof.

55. The Department seeks to impose penalties against
Dr. Cruz through the Administrative Complaint that include
suspension or revocation of his license and/or the iwposition of
an administrative fine. Therefore, the Department has the
burden of proving the specific allegations of fact that support
its charges by clear and convincing evidence. §458.331(3), Fla.

Stat. See also Department of Banking and Finance, Division of

Securities and Investor Protection v. Osborne Stern and Co., &70
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So. 2d 932 (¥la. 1996}; Ferris w. Turlington, 510 So. 24 292

{(Fla. 1987); and Pou v. Department of Insgurance and Treasurer,

707 So. 24 941 {Fla. 3d DCA 1998).
56. What constitutes "clear and convincing™ evidence was

degscribed by the court in Evans Packing Co. v. Department of

Agriculture and Consumer Services, 550 So. 2d 112, 116, n. 5

{Fla. 1st DCA 1989}, as follows:

. . . [Cllear and convincing evidence
requires that the evidence must be found to
be credible; the facts to which the
witnesses testify must be distinctly
remembered; the evidence must be precise and
explicit and the witnesses must be lacking
in confusion as to the facts in issue. The
evidence must be of such weight that it
produces in the mind of the trier of fact
the firm belief or conviction, without
hesitancy, as to the truth of the
allegations sought to be established.
Slomowitz v. Walker, 429 So. 24 737, 800
(Fla. 4th DCA 1583).

See also In re Graziano, 696 8o. 24 744 (Fla. 1%97); In re

Davey, 645 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 1994); and Walker v. Florida

Department of Business and Professional Requlation, 705 So. 2d

652 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998} (Sharp, J., dissenting}.

B. The Department's Proof; Sexual Offenses.

57. The Department alleged, in support of Counts Cne
through Three, which relate to Dr. Cruz's sexual relationship

with M.R., that Dr. Cruz did the following:
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a. Demanded oral sex f£rom Patient M.R.
under threat of withholding her
prescriptions;

b. Engaged in sexual intercourse with
Patient M.R.;

c. Masturbated in Patient M.R.'s presence;

d. Invited Patient M.R. to engage in sexual
relations with him and a third party;

e. Asked for naked photographs of Patient
M.R.; and/or

£. Groped Patient M.R.'s breasts and groin
in his offiice during sessions.

58, All of these factual allegations, except paragraphs
a., d, and f£f. were proved by the Department clearly and
convincingly.?’

59, The acts which the Department alleged and proved that
Dr. Cruz committed with M.R. constitute a violation of Section
458.331{1) (J), Plorida Statutes, as alleged in Count One of the
Administrative Complaint. Dr. Cruz exercised influence over
M.R. within the physician-patient relationship for purposes of
engaging her in sexual activity.

60. The acts which the Department alleged and proved that
Dr. Cruz committed with M.R. also constitute a viclation of
Section 458.331(1) [x), Florida Statutes, as alleged in Count Two
of the Administrative Complaint, in that his actions constitute
a violation of Section 458,329, Florida Statutes, and Florida

Administrative Ccde Rule 64B8-95.008.
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6l. Section 458.329%, Florida Statutes, provides the

following:

The physician-patient relationship is
founded on mutual trust. Sexual misconduct
in the practice of medicine means violation
of the physician-patient relationship
through which the physician uses said
relationship to induce or attempt to induce
the patient to engage, or to engage or
attempt to engage the patient, in sexual
activity outside the scope of the practice
or the scope of generally accepted
examination or treatment of the patient.
Sexual misconduct in the practice of
wmedicine is prohibited.

62. Florida Administrative Code Rule 64B8-9.008, provides

the following, in pertinent part, with regard to "sexual

misconduct®:

(1} Sexual contact with a patient is
sexual misconduct and is a violation of
Sections 458.329 and 458.331(1)(j), F.S.

(2) For purposes of this rule, sexnal
misconduct between a physician and a patient
includes, but it is not limited to:

{a) Sexual behavior or involvement with a
patient including wverbal or physical
behavior which

1. May reascnably be interpreted as
romantic involvement with a patient
regardless of whether such involvement
occurs in the professional setting or
outgide of it;

2. May reasonably be interpreted as
intended for the sexunal arcusal or
gratification of the physician, the patient
or any third party; or




63.

3. May reasonably be interpreted by the
patient as being sexual.

{3) Sexual behavior or involvement with a
patient excludes verbal or physical behavior
that is required for medically recognized
diagnostic or treatment purposes when such
behavior is performed in a manner that meets
the standard of care appropriate to the
diagmostic or treatment situation.

(4) The determination of when a person is
a patient for purposes of this rule is made
on a case by case basis with consideration
given to the nature, extent, and context of
the professicmal relationship between the
physician and the person. The fact that a
perscnl is not actively receiving treatment
or professional services from a physician is
not determinative of this issue. A person
is presumed to remain a patient until the
patient physiclan-velationship is
terminated.

- ..

{(7) B patient's consent to, initiation
of, or participation in sexual behavior or
involvement with a physician does not change
the nature of the conduct nor lift the
statutory prohibition.

- .

The acts of sexual conduct which Dr. Cruz has been

proven to have committed with M.R. constitute prohibited sexunal

misconduct as prohibited and defined in Section 458.329, Florida

Statutes, and Florida Administrative Code Rule 64B8-9.008.

Thege viclations, in turn, constitute a violation of Section

458.331(1) {x), Florida Statutes.




64. Finally, turning to the allegation that Dr. Crusz

vioclated Section 458.331(1)(t), Florida Statutes {(hereinafter

referred to as the "Standard of Care¥}, as alleged in Count

Three of the Administrative Complaint, it is not clear whether
the determination of whether a physician has violated the
Standard of Care, which previcusly clearly required a finding of
fact to be made by this forum, is a gquestion of law solely
within the province of the Board of Medicine (hereinafter
referred to ag the "Board"™) to decide. By operation'of
legislation enacted during the 2003 session of the Florida
Legislature, effective>5eptember 15, 2003, prior the conclusion
of the formal hearing in this case, "[tlhe determination of
whether or not a licensee has violated the laws and rules
regulating the profession, including a determination of the
reasonable standard of care, is a conclusion of law to be
determined by the board . . . and is not a finding of facﬁ to be.
determined by an administrative law judge." See Ch. 2003-416,
Laws of Florida 2003, Ch. 2003-416, at 8 20 (amending Section
456,073 (5), Florida Statutes (2002)).

65. The foregoing legislative change suggests that there
is no longer any need for an administrative law judge to decide
the factual question of whether a physician violated the

Standard of Care. The following change in Section
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458.331(1) (£}, Floxida Statutes, however, suggests that such

findings are tc be made:

.. A recommended order by an
administrative law judge or a final order of
the board finding a vioclation under this
paragraph shall specify whether the licensee
was found to have committed "gross
malpractice,® "repeated malpractice,? or
"failure to practice medicine with that
level of care, skill, and treatment which is
recognized as being acceptable under similar
conditions and circumstances," or any
combination thereof, and any publication by
the board must so specify.

This language specifically requires an administrative
law judge to decide the issue despite the language
quoted in paragraph 64.

66. Despite the confusion over the role of the
administrative law judge in a case such as this, where one of
the ultimate issues to be decided is whether a physician has
violated the Standard of Care, neither of the partles in this
case have argued that the change in the law gquoted in paragraph
64 requires any change in the manner in which they presented
their evidence, the wanner in which the hearing should he
conducted, or the appropriate content of this Recommended Order.
By their statements and actions at hearing, and in their
proposed orders, both parties have agreed that the nature of the

evidence to be offered and considered in this case, and the

findings to be based thereon, should not be limited by the
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above-quoted changes to the determination of whether the
Standard of Care has been violated.

67. It is, therefore, concluded that the acts which the
Department alleged and proved that Dr. Cruz committed with M.R.
constitute a vioclation of the Standard of Care az alleged in
Count Three of the Administrative Complaint.

E. The Departmwent's Proof.: Inadeguate Records.

68. Count Pour of the Administrative Complaint alleges

that Dr. Cruz's records concerning his treatment of M.R. were

inadequate, in violation of Section 458.331(1)(m}, Florida

Statutes, "in that his notes are partially illegible and/or are

cursory and generic.”

69. Based upon the testimony of Dr. Joseph, this charge

has alasc been proved.

F. The Appropriate Penalty.

70. In determining the appropriate punitive action to
recommend to the Boar& in this case, it is necessary to consult
the Board's "disciplinary guidelines,” which impose restrictions
and limitations on the exercise of the Board's disciplinary

authority. See Parrot Heads, Inc. v. Department of Business and

Professional Regulation, 741 So. 24 1231 {(Fla. 5th DCA 15§9).

71. The Board's quidelines are set out in Florida

Administrative Code Rule 64B8-8.001 (hereinafter referred to as
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the "Digciplinary Guidelines"}, which provides, in part, the

following:

(2} Vioclations and Range of Penalties.
In iwmposing discipline upon applicants and

licenseeg, in proceedings pursuant to

Section 120.57(1) and (2}, ¥.8., the Board
shall act in accordance with the following
disciplinary guidelines and shall impose a
penalty within the range correspondent to

the violations set forth below. . . .

72. The Disciplinary Guidelines provide the following

recommended penalties for the commission, between Novewber 4,

1993, and Decenmber 28, 1999, of a first offense viclation of the

provisions at isgue In thisz case:

a. BSection 458.331{1){j). Florida Statutes, viclation:
"From one {l) year suspension to revocation . . and an
administrative fine from $250.00 to $5,000.00%;

b. Section 458.331{1)(t), Florida Statutes, viglation:
*From two (2} years probation to revocation . . . and an
administrative fine from 4$250.00 to §5,000.00";

c. Section 458.331(1) (x}, Florida Statutes, viclation:
"From a reprimand to revocation . . . and an administrative fine

from 5250.00 to §5,000.00%; and

d. Section 458.331(1) (m}, Florida Statutes violation:

"From a reprimand . . . or two [2) years suspension followed by

probation, and an administrative fine from $250.00 to

$5,000.00."




73. The Disciplinary Guidelines provide the following
recommended penaltiesg for the commission, after December 28,
1999, of a first offense violation of the provisions at issue in
this case:

a. Section 458.331{1) (j), Florida Statutes, violation:
*From one (1) year suspension and a reprimand and an
administrative fine of %5,000.00 to revocation . . . and an
administrative fine of 510,000.00";

b. Section 458.331(1) (t), Florida Statutes, wvioclation:
"From two (2) years probation to revocaﬁion . . . and an
administrative fine from $1,000.00 to $10,000.00%;

¢. Section 458.331({1) (x}), Florlda Statutes, viclation:
"From a reprimand to revocation . . . and an administrative fine
from $1,000.00 to $10,000.00"; and

d. Section 458.331{1) (m), Florida Statutes violation:
"From a reprimand . . . or two {2) vears suspension followed by
probation, and an adwministrative fine from $1,000.00 to
$10,000.00."

74. Florida Administrative Code Rule &4BB-8.001(3)}
provides that, in determining the appropriate penalty, the
following aggravating and mitigating clrcumstances are to be
taken into account:

{3) Aggravating and Mitigating

Circumstances. Based upon consideration of
aggravating and mitigating factors present

10
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75.

in an individual case, the Board may deviate
from the penalties recommended above. The
Board shall consider as aggravating or
mitigating factors the following:

{a} Exposure of patient or public to injury
or potential injury, physical or otherwise:
none, slight, severe, or death;

{(b) Legal status at the time of the
offense: no restraints, or legal
constraints; .

{c) The number of counts or separate
offenses established;

(d} The number of times the same offense or
offenses have previously been committed by
the licensee or applicant;

{e} The disciplinary history of the
applicant or licensee in any jurisdiction
and the length of practice;

{f} Pecuniary benefit or self-gain inuring
to the applicant or licensee;

{g) The involvement in any violation of
Section 458.331, F.S., of the provision of
controlled substances for trade, barter or
sale, by a licensee. In such cases, the
Board will deviate from the penalties
recommended above and impose suspension or
revocation of licensure.

{h} Any other relevant mitigating factors.

Having carefully considered the facts of thisz matter

in light of the provisions of Florida Administrative Code Rule

64B8-8.001, it is concluded that Dr. Cruz's license to practice

medicine in the State of Florida should be revoked.

RECOMMENDATTON

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of

Law, it is

RECOMMENDED that the a final order be entered by the Board

of Medicine finding that Jose Anibal Cruz, M.D., has violated
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Sections 458.331(1) (j), (m), (t}, and (x} (by violating Section
458.325, Florida Statutes, and Florida Administrative Code Rule‘
64B8-9.008} as alleged the Administrative Complaint; and
revoking Dr. Cruz's license to practice medicine.

DONE AND ENTERED this 15th day of Rpril, 2004, in

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida.

LARRY J. SARTIN

Administrative Law Judge

Division of Adminjistrative Hearings
The DeSote Building

1230 Apalachee Parkway

Tallahassee, Florida 32353-3060
{8B50) 488-9675 SUNCOM 278-9675
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847
www.docah.state.fl.us

Filed with the Clerk of the
Divigion of hAdministrative Hearings
this 15th day of April, 2004.

ENDHOTES

*/ The following are the legal conclusions reached in
the April 18, 2003, Order:

1. First, it is clear that any individual
may assert his or her Fifth Amendment
Privilege in order to avoid being a witness
against oneself in a criminal matter. It
does not appear that® there is any reasonable
fear that any of the questions posed to
Respondent in this case, if answered, would
expose Respordent to criminal prosecution or
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convictlion, or has Respondent asserted any
argument to the contrary;

2. Second, in addition to the right to
assert a Fifth Amendment Privilege in order
te avold being a witness against oneself in
a criminal wmatter, the Privilege may also be
asserted in "proceedings 'penal' in nature
in that they tend to degrade the
individual's professional standing,
professional reputation or livelihoed.®
State ex rel. Vining v. Florida Real Estate
Commlssion, 281 Sc. 2d 487, 491 (Fla. 1973).
This case is a penal proceeding, the nature
of which could degrade Respondent's
professional standing, professional
reputation or livelihood and, therefore,
Respondent can assert hisg Fifth Amendment
Privilege in refusing to answer guestions
which would tend to "incriminate® him in
this matter. He cannot, however,
selectively assert the Privilege and answer
only selective questions, which he has
chosen to do here, and then, after having at
least partially thwarted Petitiomner's
discovery efforts, expect to testify freely
at the final hearing. Again, Respondent has
not asserted any arcgument to the contrary;

3. Thirdly, the Vining decision does not
support the nction that the Fifth Amendment
Privilege may be asserted where a respondent
fears that the answers given in one
administrative proceeding or civil
proceeding may lead to another proceeding of
a penal nature that may tend to degrade the
individual's professional standing,
professional reputation or livelihood. In
other words, even Respondent has asserted
the Privilege because he fears that the
answers he gives in this case may lead to
further adminigtrative charges, not now
being pursued or contemplated by Petitioner.
Vining does not extend his right to assert
his Fifth Amendment Privilege to questions
otherwise relevant to this matter.
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Respondent may not, therefore, assert the
Privilege in refusing to answer any of the
questions posed to hiwm during the March 25,
2003, portion of his deposition because of a
fear that other administrative charges may
be pursued against him by Petitioner; and

4. Finally, there may be a circumstance
where a respondent may assert a Fifth
Amendment. Privilege to answer only those
gquestions copcerning "Williams-Rule®
evidence, as asserted by Respondent at the
final hearing, but this is not such a case.
Mone of the guestions for which Regpondent
asserted his Privilege can reasonably be
congtrued to apply to Williams-Rule
evidence. For example, the Administrative
Complaint in this case alleges that
Respondent "would enter his office, lock the
door behind him, and begin to grope at
Patient M.R.'s breasts and groin." He was
asked the following guestion during his
deposition to which he assexrted a Fifth
Amendment Privilege: ‘*Have you ever used
the lock on the door to your office?" While
it is not impossible that follow up
questicon, assuming Respondent answered "yes®
to this guestion, could lead to guestions
that only relate to Williams-Rule evidence,
this question does not seek to elicit
anything other than a fact that is clearly
in igsue in this matter. While Respcondent
may assert his Fifth Amendment Privilege to
this gquestion, with probable sanctions for
doing so being imposed, he may not due s0
because he believes it relates somehow to
Williams-Rule evidence. While only one
guestion has bheen guoted is this paragraph,
the conclusion about this question applies
to all of the questions for which Respondent
asserted a Fifth Awendment Privilege.

*/ No final ruling was entered on Petitioner's Motion to
Preclude Respondent's Testimony or Motion in Limine. Respondent
ultimately decided not to testify at the final hearing and,
therefore, the Motion was considered moot.
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}/ Dr. Cruz is not board certified in psychiatry.

‘/ Dr. Cruz's office at Miami Beach is located within a lower
sociceconomic neighborhood. Dr. Cruz's patients generally
reflect the area in which he practices.

®/ Wwhile under his care, Dr. Cruz prescribed a number of
medications for M.R., including Eskalith, Klonopin, Xanax,
Paxil, Floricet, Imitrex, Buspar, Prilosec, Flexeril, and
Restoril. According to Dr. Joseph, while he considered Dr.
Cruz's medical treatment of M.R. "guestionable,® it did not
violate the standard of care proscribed by Section
458.331(1) (), Florida Statutes:

3. The subject can be considered to have
met the standard of care in his management
of this patient from the clinical
standpoint. Patients with Bipolar Disorder
of mixed type may present with multiple
symptoms and require various psychotropic
medications. I question the justification
for the (high} dosing of the
benzodiazepines, but there are times when
such medications are of value if judiciously
used and supervised. . . .

8. The subject prescribed doses of
kenzodiazepines, which increase over time.
He begins with Xanax 0.25mg bid and proceeds
to a level of Xanax 2mg tid. This higher
dose level is questionable in such a
patient. The prescription of analgecis such
as Toradol and Fioricet while technically
not outside the standard of care are in my
opinion questionable.

The evidence in this case, therefore, falled to prove that Dr.
Cruz violated Section 458.331(1}(t}, Florida Statutes, by his
medication prescription to M.R. The evidence likewise failed to
prove that M.R. was "addicted” to Yanax as suggested by the
Department. M.R.!s testimony in this regard is insufficient to
make such a finding.
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6/ The evidence faliled to prove whether M.R.'s room was actually
monitored at any time pertinent to this wmatter.

’/ At the times relevant, it was the practice of Dr. Cruz's
office to see patients on a first come, first sexvice, basis,
even though they had made an appointment. Patients who called
to make an appointment for a particular day, therefore, knew
they would not be guaranteed a particular time. M.R. would come
to the office, sign in, and then be seen by Dr. Cruz when her
name was called. This meant that the sign-in times on

Dr. Cruz's appointment books do not necessarily correspond to
the times when M.R. was actually seen by him.

'/ No identification was regquired for patrons who did not remt
for the night. Only patrons who rented a room for the night
were required to produce a driver's license, the number of which
was noted on the registration card. Because Dr. Cruz rented for
less than a night, he was not asked to supply anything to verify
the name he used to register.

%/ Dr. Cruz has suggested that, given the alleged different
boundaries between physicians and patients in the Hispanic
community of south Florida, as compared with other areas of the
State, that simply giving money to a patient in an effort to
help a patient in need was not inappropriate. The evidence in
this case proved, however, that the money offered by Dr. Cruz to
M.R. was not simply a matter of an effort to help a patient, but
part of his wore intimate sexual relationship with M.R.

1%/ The telephone which M.R. owned was a type that required her
to purchase "minutes® which could then be used to make and
receive telephone calls. The particular service M.R. used
recorded the number called from M.R.'s phone, but at the times
relevant, did not record the telephone number of any incoming
calls. PFor an incoming telephone call, the record of M.R.'s
phone recorded the time that was used up taking the incoming
call and simply listed her telephone number as both the
originating number and the receiving number.

1/ Again, providing money for M.R. ‘s phone was not an
acceptable boundary crossing, but was an inappropriate boundary
violation. Dr. Cruz gave M.R. phone money to further their
sexual relationship, not out of some charitable motivation.

2/ M.R.'s telephone was used twice on August 16, 2001: one
call was to telephone information and the other call, which
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occurred between 12:36 p.m. and 12:40 p.m., was recorded by her
telephone-service provider with her own telephone number as the
number recejving the call and the number f£rom which the call was
originated. This is consistent with how incoming telephone
calls were recorded at that time and corroborates M.R.'s
testimony that she received a call from Dr. Cruz that day while
atr lunch.

Although the investigators did not hear who M.R. was speaking
to, one of the investigators, who is fluent in Spanish,
overheard M.R. say in Spanish that she would meet the person she
wag gpeaking with at the norwal place, referring to the Grocery
Store.

3/ The investigators had been instructed by M.R.'s attorney not
to allow M.R. to enter the motel room with Dr. Cru=z.

1/ Dr. Cruz offered testimony and a proffer concerning cultural
differences with respect to the provision of medical care in the
commnity of Miami, specifically the Hispanic community. The
testimony and proffer were to the effect that, because of these
cultural differences, patients may view their physician and the
appropriate patient-physiclan interaction differentiy. This
testimony and the proffer, which the Department stipulated would
be the testimony of those witnesses who were not called due to
the cumulative nature of their testimony, was not persuasive and
has been rejected ag a basis for any finding of fact contrary to
the findings made in this Recommended COrder.

%/ The evidence also failed to prove clearly and convincingly
that, although Drx. Cruz increased M.R.'s prescription of Xanax
between January of 1994 and May of 2001, that she became hoth
physically and psychologically dependent on Xanax as alleged in
paragraph 10 of the Administrative Complaint.

+
6/ While it is true that Dr. Joseph agreed that Dr. Cruz's
medical notes did not constitute a "viclation of the standard of
care," the Department has alleged that Dr. Cruz's notes violate
Section 458.331(1) ({m}, Florida Statutes, and not Section
458.331(1) {t}, Florida Statutes. Dr. Cruz's argument on this
point in his post-hearing submittal is, therefore, not relevant.

'/ In its post-hearing submittal, the Department has alleged
other "facta® were proven that support the conclusion that he is
guilty of the first three counts of the Administrative
Complaint. Those facts, however, not having been specifically
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alleged in support of the charges against Dr. Cruz, cannot form
the basis for any finding of a disciplinable wviolation. See,
e.q., Hamilton v. Department of Business and Professional

Requlation, 764 So. 24 778 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000} ; Lusskin v.
Agency for Health Care Administration, 731 So. 24 67, 6% (Fla.
4th DCA 199%); Cottrill v. Department of Insurance, 685 So. 2d
1371 {Fla. 1lst DCA 1996); Kinney v, Department of State, 501 So.
2d 125 (Fla. S5th DCA 1987); and Hunfer v. Department of
Professional Reculation, 458 So. 2d 842 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1584).
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NOTICE CF RIGHT TQ SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS

A1l parties have the right to submit written exceptions within

15 days frowm the date of thig recommended order. Any exceptions

to this recommended order should be filed with the agency that
will issue the final order in this case.
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2 )
STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

DEPARTMENT CF HEALTH,
PETITIONER,
Vs, CASE NO. 2001-16808
JOSE ANIBAL CRUZ, M.D,, |

RESPONDENT.

"t vt Sl St St s i S Yo Ynae?

ADMINI TIV PLAINT
COMES NOW the Petitioner, Department of Health, hereinafter referred to as

“Petitioner,” and files this Administrative Complaint before the Board of Medicine

~ against Jose Anibal Cruz, M.D., hereinafter referred to as "Respondent,” and alleges:

1.  Effective July 1, 1997, Petitioner is the state agency charged with
regulating the practice of medicine pursuant to Section 20.43, Florida Statutes;
Chapter 456, Florlda Statutes; and Chapter 458, Florida Statutes.

2.  Respondent is and has been at all times material hereto a licensed
physician in the state of Florida, having been issued license number ME 0025019.
Respondent's last known address Is 1540 Washington Avenue, Miami Beach, Fiorida
33139.

3. Respondent is not board-certified, but specializes in general psychiatry.

4, In or about January of 1994, Patient M.R., a then 31 year-old female,
presented to the Respondent complaining of symptoms of manic depression. The

Respondent diagnosed her with manic depressive iliness in remission. At that time, the

¥ €930
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Respendent prescribed Eskafith SR 450 and Xanax.

5. Eskalith contains lithium carbonate and is used in the treatment of manic
episodes of manic-depressive iliness. Xanax is indicated for the treatment of anxiety
disorder.

6.  The Respondent continued to treat Patient M.R. for her manic depression
from January of 1994, until August of 2001. During the time that Patient M.R. was
under his care; the Respondent treated her in his office at least once a month.

7. During that six year pericd of time, the Respondent prescribed' a number
of other medications for Patient M.R., including the following: Lithium, Klonipin, Prozac,
Restoril, Paxil, Buspar, Xanax, Fioricet, Prilosec, Flexeril, and Imitrex.

8. Beginning in 1997, the Respondent started to make sexual advances
toward Patient M.R. in the way of hugging her, kissing her, and asking Patient M.R. for
naked pictures of herself.

9. The Respondents inappropriate behavior escalated to demanding that
patient M.R. perform oral sex on him in his office. Patient M.R. performed orai sex on
the Respondent because she was afraid of him and because he refused to refill her
prescriptions uniess she did what he told her to do.

10.  From January of 1994 to May of 2001, the Respondent increased Patient
M.R.'s prescription of Xanax from 0.25 mg, once 2 day, to 2.0 mg, three times a day.
patients can become both physically and psychologically dependent on Xanax,

experiencing withdrawal symptoms similar to those associated with sedatives and

alcohol.




11. During her psychiatric sessions with the Respondent, the Respondent
would enter his office, lock the door behind him, and begin to grope at Patlent MR.'s
breasts and groin.

12,  While under the Respondent’s care, Patient M.R. was hospitalized on six
occasions for symptoms related to her depression. On each occasion, the Respondent
was the admitting and attending physician. On several occasions at the hospitai, the
Respondent would come iﬁto Patient M.R.’s room, dose the door and masturbate in her
presence. He also asked her on a number of occasions to participate in a threesome so
that he could observe her in a sexual lialson with another female, to which Patient M.R.

declined.

13.  In October of 1999, Patient M.R. asked the Respondent for an HIV test, as
she was concerned that she might have acquired the virus from performing oral sex on
the Respondent. The Respondent ordered the test and Patient M.R. was tested for HIV.
The negative results were reported by the Sdentific Medical taboratory, Inc., in Miamt,

Florida,

14. In or about 1999, following the HIV test, the Respondent started taking
Patient M.R. to the Stariight East Motel in Miamij, Fiorida, to have sexual intercourse
with her. His routine on those occasions was to schedule Patient M.R. as the last
appointment of the day and then take her to the motel. At the mote!, he would pay for
the room as Patient M.R. sat in his car. The Respondent would then go into the hotel

room and Patient M.R. would join him there after five to ten minutes.

15. In or about August of 2001, Patient M.R. ceased treating with the



Respondent.

16. Respondent’s notations throughout Patient M.R.'s medical records are

ilegible, cursory, and generic. He makes no reference to Patient M.R.’s current life

issues, psychodynamics or the effects of the medications which he has prescribed for

her.

17. Section 458.329, Florida Statutes, states that the physician-patient

relationship is founded on mutual trust. Sexual misconduct in the practice of medicine

means violation of the physician-patient relationship through which the physician uses

sald relationship to induce the patient to engage, or to engage or attempt to engage

the patient, in sexual activity outside the scope of the practice or the scope of generally
~ accepted examination or treatment of the patient. Sexual misconduct in the practice of
medicine is prohibited,

18. Rule 64B8-9.008, Florida Administrative Code, states in part that sexual
contact with a patient is sexual misconduct, which includes verbal or physical behavior
which may reasonably be interpreted as romantic involvement with a patient regardiess
of whether such involvement occurs In the professional setting or outside of it, may
reasonably be interpreted as intended for the sexual arousal or gratification of the
physician, the patient or any third party or may be reasonably interpreted as being
sexual,

COUNT ONE-EXERCISING INFLUENCE IN PATIENT/PHYSICIAN
RE ONSHIP

19.  Petitioner realleges and incorporates paragraphs one (1) through

eighteen (18), as if fully set forth herein this Count One.
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20. Respondent exercised influence within a patient-physician relationship for
purposes of engaging a patient in sexual activity, in that Respondent did one or more of
the following:

a. Demanded oral sex from Patient M.R. under threat of withholding
her prescriptions;

b. Engaged in sexual intercourse with Patient M.R.;

C Masturbated in Patient M.R.'s presence;

d.  Invited Patlent M.R. to engage in sexual relations with him and a
third party;

e. Asked for naked photographs of Patient M.R.; and/or

- f Grobed ‘Patient M.R's breasts and groin in his office during

sessions.

21. Based on the foregoing, Respondent violated Section 458.331{1)(j),
Florida Statutes, by exercising influence within a patient-physician relationship for
purposes of engaging a patient in sexual activity. A patient shall be presumed to be
incapable of glving free, full, and Informed consent to sexual activity with his or her
physician.

COUNT TWO-SEXUAL MISCONDUCT

22, Petitioner realleges and incorporates paragraphs one (1) through eighteen

(18), as if fully set forth herein this Count Two.




23. Respondent violated the express prohibition against sexual misconduct
stated in Section 458.329, Florida Statutes, and Rule 64B-9.008, Florida Administrative
Code, in doing one or more of the following:

a. Demanding oral sex from Patient M.R. under threat of withhoiding
her prescriptions;

b. Engaging in sexual Intercourse with Patlent M.R.;

C Masturbating in Patient M.R.’s presence;

d. Inviting Patient M.R. t0 engage in sexual relations with him and a
third party;

e. Asking for naked photographs of Patient M.R.; and/or

£  Groping Patient M.R’s bDreasts and groin in his office during
Sessions.

24, Based on the foregoing, Respondent violated Section 458.331{1)}x),
Florida Statutes, by. violating any provision of Chapter 458, Florida Statutes, a rule of
the board or department, or a lawful order of the board or department previously
entered in a disciplinary hearing or failing to comply with a lawfully issued subpoena of
the department.

COUNT THREE-FAILURE TQ MEET STANDARD OF CARE

25,  Petitioner realieges and incorporates paragraphs one (1) through eighteen
(18), as if fully set forth herein this Count Three.

26. Respondent failed to practice medicine with that leve! of care, skill, and

treatment which is recognized by a reasonably prudent similar physician as being




.

acceptable under similar conditions and circumstances in that the Respondant engaged
in one or more of the following with Patient M.R. during the time that he was treating
her for depression and bipolar disorder:
a. Demanding oral sex from Patient M.R. under threat of withholding
 her prescriptions;
b. Engaging in sexua! intercourse with Patient M.R.;
c Masturbating in Patient M.R’s presence;
d.  Inviting Patient M.R. to engage in sexual relations with him and a
third party;
e Asking for naked photographs of Patient M.R.; and/or
f.  Groping Patient M.R’s breasts and groln in his office during
sessions,

27. Based on the foregoing, Respondent has violated Section 458.331(1)(D),
Florida Statutes, by faling to practice medicine with that jevel of care, skill, and
treatment which Is recognized by a reasonably prudent similar physician as being
acceptable under similar conditions and circumstances.

OUNT ~-INADEQU E L RD:

28.  Petitioner realleges and incorporates paragraphs one (1) through eighteen
(18), as if fully set forth herein this Count Four.

29.  Respondent failed to keep written medical records justifying the course of
treatment of Patient M.R,, in that Respondent’s notes are partially illegible andfor are

cursory and generic.
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30. Based on the foregoing, Respondent violated Section 458.331(1)(m},

Florida Statutes, by falling to keep legible, as defined by department rule in consultation
with the board, medical records that identify the licensed physician or the physician
extender and éupervising physician by name and professional titie who is or are
responsible for rendering, ordering, supervising, or billing for each diagnostic or
treatment procedure and that justify the course of treatment of the patient, induding,
but not limited to, patient histories; examination results; test results; records of drugs
prescribed, dispensed, or =administered; and reports of consultations and
hospitalizations.
COSTS

31.  Petitioner has incurred costs related to the investigation and prosecution of
this matter.

32. Pursuant to Section 456.072(4), Florida Statutes, the Board shall assess
costs related to the investigation and prosecution of a disciplinary matter on a
respondent in addition to any other discipline imposed.

WHEREFORE, the Petitioner respectfully requests that the Board of Medicine
enter an order imposing one or more of the following penaitles, in addition to the
assessment of the costs refated to the fnvesﬁgétion and prosecution of this case as
provided for in Sectlon 456.072(4), Florida Statutes (2001):

a)  Revocation of Respondent’s license;

b)  Suspension of Respondent’s license for an appropriate peried of

time;



d)  Imposition of an administrative fine;
e)  Issuance of a reprimand;
f Placement of the Respondent on probation;

g)  Administrative costs, and/or any other rellef that the Board deems

appropriate.
SIGNED this 39& day of Zlg coabor , 2002
John O. Agwuncbi, M.D., M.B.A.
Secretary, Department of Health
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DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH,

Petitioner, DOH CASE NO.: 2001-16808
s, Related to:

DOAH Case No,: 2003-0056PL

JOSE ANIBAL CRUZ, M.D.,

Respondent.

/
RESPO T0 CO| ORD

Comes Now, the Respondent, JOSE ANIBAL CRUZ, M.D., through his undersigned
counsel, and pursuant to Section 120.57, Florida Statutes and Uniform Rule 28-106.217,
Florida Administrative Code files his written Exceptiops to the Recommend Order of the
Administrative Law Judge issued on April 15, 2004 s follows:

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent is a licensed psychiatzist in the State of Florida and has been Licensed
since 1975. He has no prior discipline after more than 30 years in practice including his
time in training,

Respondent voluntarily restricted his license in December 2001 and remains i fall
compliance with the terms of the voluntary restriction. Copies of the Voluntary
Restriction and monthly monitoring reports through the date of the January 28, 2004
formal hearing are included in the record before this Board.

During the tiroe this case has been pending, Respondent has been permitied 1o

continue o practice medicine under the terms of the voluntary restriction,
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Becange the findings of fact of the Recommended Order issued by the Administrative

Law Judge is, in part, based on credibility determinations, Respondent recognizes under
Section 120.57, Florida Statutes that this Board cannot overturn the findings of the
Administrative Law Judge unless those findings -are not supporied by competent
substantial evidence.

Respondent asserts that certain findings of the Administrative Law Judge are not
based on competent substantial evidence in the record and that the faimess of the
proceedings below were tainted by the conduct of the Petitioner to the prejudice of the
Respondent.

REQUIREMENTS OF CHAPTER 120, FLORIDA STATUTES

In considering the recommended order and the recommendations for penalty
including the issues of what costs', if any to impose, the Board of Medicine is confined
solely to the record established at the formal hearing. Ong v. Department of Professional
Regulation, 565 So.2d 1384, 1387 (Fla. 5" DCA 1990); School Board of Leon County v.
Weaver, 556 S0.2d 443, 445 (Fla. 1% DCA 1990); Linkous v. Department of Professional
Regulation, 417 S0.2d 802, 803 (Fla. 5% DCA 1982). The Board of Medicine is not
authorized to receive additional evidence other than that already presented and evaluated
by the Administrative Law Judge. Ong; School Board of Leon County. Nor can the Board
discipline a licensee for matters not charged in the Administrative Complaint or on the
basis of evidence erroneously admitted. Ghani v. Department of Health, 714 So.2d 1113

(Fla. 1* DCA 1998); Kunen v, Department of Busjess and Professional Regulation, 642

So.2d 60 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

! This case arose in 2001 and before the recent changes 1o Section 456.072(4), Florida Statutes,
effective September 15, 2003. Administrative Complaint was filed December 30, 2002,
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Additionally, in license revocation proceedings, strict construction of statutes and

specificity of the charges is required. Davis v. Department of Professiopal Reguiation, 457

So.2d 1074, 1076-1078 (Fla. 1¥ DCA 1984); Lewis v, Criminal Justice Standards and

Training Commission, 462 So.2d 528, 530 (Fla. 1* DCA 1985); Hunter v. Department of

Professignal Regulation, 458 So.2d 842, 844 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), If there is any doubt, it is

resolved in favor of the Respondent and against the regulatory agency. Id.

In determining whether to adopt the recommended order of the Administrative Law
Judge, under Section 120.57(1)(1}, Florida Statutes, the Board of Medicine “_..may reject
or modify the conclusions of law over which it has substantive jurisdiction and
interpretation of adrninistrative rules over which it has substantive jurisdiction. When
rejecting or modifying such conclusion of law or interpretation of administrative rule, the
{Board] must state with particularity its reasons for rejecting or modifying such
conclusion of law or interpretation of administrative rule and must make & finding that its
substituted conclusion of law or interpretation of administrative rule is as or more
reasonable than that which was rejected or modified. Rejection or modification of
conclusions of law may not form the basis for rejection or modification of findings of
fact.

The [Board] may not reject or modify the findings of fact unless the [it] first
determines from a review of the entire record, and states with particularity in the order,
that the findings of fact were not based upon competent substantial evidence or that the
proceedings on which the findings were based did not comply with essential requirements

of law,...”
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- COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE
Competent substantial evidence is defined as that evidence supporting an ultimate
finding which is sufficiently relevant and material such that a reasonable mind would

accept it as adequate to support the conclusion reached. De Groot v, Sheffield, 95 So.2d

912, 916 (Fla. 1957). To help guide the Board jn what constitutes competent substantial

evidence, the First District Court of Appeal has stated that:
“If, as is often the case, the evidence presented supports two inconsistent findings,
it is the hearing officer’s role to decide the issue one way or the other, The agency
may not reject the hearing officer’s findings unless there is no competent
substantial evidence from which the finding could reasonably be inferred. The
agency is not authorized to weigh the evidence presented, judge the credibility of
the witnesses, or otherwise interpret the evidence to fit its desired ultimate

conclusion.” Heifetz v. Department of Business Regulation, 475 So.2d 1277,

" 1281-1282 (Fla. 1% DCA 1985); Gross v. Department of Health, 819 So.2d 997,

1000-1001 (Fla. 1* DCA 2002).
However, where as here, there is no evidence in the record to support some of the factual
findings made by the Administrative Law Judge r;r the findings are unclear, it is
appropriate for the Board of Medicine to either reject those findings as not supported by
competent substantial evidence in the record or in this case, remand the case to the
Administrative Law Judge for reconsideration and clarification of the record in light of

the rejected or unclear findings.
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- RESPONDENT’S GENERAL EXCEPTIONS?

Respondent takes exception to the Administrative Law Judge’s consideration of
testimony and evidence outside of the express charges of the Adrinistrative Complaint.
Said testimony and evidence was not relevant to the express allegations of the
Administrative Complaint and should have been rejected as irrelevant. Ghani

Additionally, Respondent takes exception to any findings by the Administrative
Law Judge related to incidents or events of wrongful conduct aileged to have been
comunitted by Respondent prior to 1997. Said events were outside of the express charges
of the Administrative Complaint.

Respondent takes specific exception to findings of fact 19, 11, 12, 13 and 14
found at page 9 of the recommended order to the extent that the Administrative Law
Judge suggests the wrongful conduct occurred before 1997. To the extent that the same
deficiency might be present in finding of fact 21 found at page 11 of the recommended
order, Respondent takes exception as well.

Paragraph 8 of the Administrative Complaint filed on December 30, 2002 sets
forth the time frame for when the alleged wrongful eonduct began to occur. 1t stated the
following:

B. Beginning in 1997, the Respondent started to make sexual advances toward
Patient M.R. in the way of hugging her, kissing her, and asking Patient M.R.
for naked pictures of herself.
Paragraph 9 of the Administrative Complaint filed on December 30, 2002 sets forth
the manner in which there was escalation of the behavior after 1997. It stated the

following:

? References to the record at formal hearing will be designated as “Ix” for Joint Exhibits; “Px” for
Petitioner’s Exbibits; and “Rx” for Respondent’s Exhibits foliowed by the page number upon




9. The Respondent’s inappropriate behavior escalated to demanding that Patient
M.R. perform oral sex on him in his office. Patient M.R. performed oral sex
on the Respondent because she was afraid of him and because he refused to
refill her prescriptions unless she did what be told her to do.

At no time prior to or during the formal hearing held April 10-11, 2003, including the
remainder of the hearing held Januvary 28, 2004, did the Department of Health seek to
revise, amend or alter the allegations made in the Administrative Complaint. It cannot do
S0 DOW,

Finding of Fact Number 10 found at page 9 of the recommended order falls
outside of the express charges of the Administrative Complaint and should‘bc stricken.

Ghani, Maddox v. Depantment of Professional Regulation, 552 So.2d 717 (Fla. 1* DCA

1991), review denied, 601 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1992).

Findings of Fact Number 11, 12, 13 and 14 found at page 9 of the recommended
order are incomplete and do not reference the specific time period in which the wrongful
conduct occurred. However, in context of the recommended order, it appears the
Administrative Law Judge is referencing wrongful conduct occutring prior to 1997 and
therefore, they should be stricken or at the very least, the matter should be remanded o
the Administrative Law Judge for additional supplemental findings concerning the time

period in which the referenced conduct occurred. Ghani, Maddox. To the extent the same

deficiency is present in finding of fact number 21, this Board should remand the matter to
the Administrative Law Judge for clarification.
Under the circumstances, it is appropriate for this Board to strike the referenced

paragraphs and/or remand this matter to the Administrative Law Judge for

reconsideration of the record.

which the reference relates, as may be appropriate.
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Respondent also takes exception to the manner in which Petitioner prosecuted this

matter. Specifically, Respondent takes exception to Petitioner’s misleading responses in
discovery and its withholding of certain material from the Respondent during discovery -
a videotape - and Petitioner’s attempt to surprise the Respondent with the same material
during the course of his March 5, 2003 deposition.

Petitioner's conduct was outrageous and prejudiced the Respondent and the
fairness of the proceedings.

That the faimess of the proceedings was impacted is evident by the
Administrative Law Judge concerns over Respondent’s objections to the questions posed
at his follow-up March 25, 2003 deposition. (See discussion of the Administrative Law
Judge at pages 2 to 5 of the recommended order and endnotes 1 and 2 found at pages 32
to 33 of the recommended order to which Respondent takes exception for the reasons
expressed in his general exceptions).

Respondent’s objections to the questions posed at his deposition of March 25,
2003 were necessitated by Petitioner’s attempted surprise use of materials not previously
disclosed and by Petitioner’s efforts to inguire into matters not charged in this
proceeding. See Respondent’s Emergency Motion for Protective Order, Motion to
Compel, Motion in Limine and Request for Sanctions filed with the Division of
Administrative Hearings on March 24, 2003 and T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pgs. 3 - 9. The
questions posed by the Petitioner at the March 25, 2003 deposition, in part, concerned
irrelevant matters not charged in the Administrative Complaint, and they concemed a

matter not properly noticed as “Williams Rule™ but for which Respondent could be

* See requirements of Section 120.57(1)(d), Florida Statutes. Petitioner never gave Notice under

" this Section of its intent to use any similer fact evidence.
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subject to prosecution in other proceedings - implicating Vining v. Florida Real Estate

Commissjon, 281 S0.2d 487 (Fla. 1973) and Kozerowitz v, Florida Real Estate

Commission, 289 So.2d 391 (Fla, 1974). The questions posed by Petitioner at the March
25, 2003 follow-up deposition, in part, related to the “last link™ in the prosecution of that
other uncharged matter. Respondent was unable to defend the matter at formal hearing
due to Petitioner’s willful non-compliance with the discovery rules and their subsequent
blocks in Respondent’s efforts to seek further discovery after the withheld materials were
made known to the Respondent.

Nonetheless, following his unsuccessful appeal of the Administrative Law
Judge’s April 18, 2003 Order, Respondent complied with the Administrative Law
Judge’s April 18, 2003 Order. He answered the .questions posed by the Petitioner on
December 18, 2003 and before the formal hearing resumed on January 28, 2004.

The Administrative Law Judge did not discuss Respendent’s compliance with the
April 18, 2003 Order nor his answers to the questions, which were given at his
subsequent deposition conducted on December 18, 2003. This deposition was conducted
after the Third District Court of Appeal denjed Respondent’s request for review on
September 26, 2003 but was not offered into evidence at the formal hearing. Ultimately,
Respondent did not testify at the formal hearing rendering the issue of whether he should
be permitted to testify moot. However, Petitioner's outrageous conduct in failing to
disclose material and then attempting to use that material to surprise the Respondent

should not be condoned and this matter should be remanded for a new formal hearing,
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RESPONDENT’S EXCEPTIONS TO FINDINGS OF FACT

Respondent takes exception to the following findings of fact and requests that they be
stricken from -thc recomrnended order:

Exceptionl.  Page 9, paragraph 9 of the Recommended Order, that portion of
the sentence stating: *...from January 1994 until August 2001, seeing her at least once a
month for pharmacelogic management...”

There is no competent evidence to support the Administrative Law Judge’s
conclusion that M.R. saw the Respondent at a frequency of once a month during the
entire seven (7) years pericd.

Respondent’s medical records for MUR. admitted as Joint Exhibits 1 and 2 show
M.R. visited the Respondent at his offices or requested a prescription from Respondent
on only the following dates:

1994 1995 1995 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

0iN01/54 011000 01/15/01
0200394 Q21385 02116098 022840 022101
030154 03/13/95  03/104/96 03/05/98 03722100
030894
04/21/94 04726500 D42
05116094 05/12/97 05/10400 05736001
0512797
6020094 0610097 06116199 061280 02701
06/30/89
07/18/94 07/K06/98 07/10/0  07/16401
Q73100
OB15/94 080459 0B/09/00  OB/16/01
DBA0M0
09/08/9%  08A 100
1072296 10/13/97 1/13/99 102300
11410199
12415199

Additionally, MR. testified at the formal hearing that she was not under the
Respondent’s care continuously from January 1994 to August 2001. She specifically
indicated that she left the Respondent’s care and then resumed his care afier she returned

from New Jersey. ...in ‘90 something, because there was a gap there where I left to New




Jersey for a year...” (T. Vol. L April 10, 2003; pgs. 64, 100). M.R. could not remetnber
when she left for New Jersey nor could she remember when she returned from New
Jersey. (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pgs. 64, 100). Throughout her testimony, she indicated

that she had a poor memory and could not remember dates. (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pgs.

59-164). Given M.R.'s acknowledged poor memory and the Eontradictory information in

the medical records admitted at the formal hearing, M.R.’s testimony could not form the
basis for clear and convincing evidence to support the violations alleged. Hasbun v.
Department of Health, 701 So.2d 1235 (Fa. 3d DCA 1997); Hammesfar v. Department
of Health, _So2d_, 2004 WL 592159 (Fla. 2d DCA March 26, 2004).

Exception 2. Page 9, paragraph 15 of the Recommended Order, that portion of

the sentence stating: “On five occasions®, Dr. Cruz hospitalized M.R. in the psychiatric

unit at Cedars Medical Center...”

Although there is competent evidence to support the Administrative Law Judge’s
conclusion that Respondent admitted M.R. to Cedars on five occasions, the number of
admissions by MLR. 10 Cedars afier 1997 was at least six and MLR. testificd that the
rumber was actually greater.

The only direct evidence offered by Petitioner to support the number of admissions by
MR. t0 Cedars Medical Center was Petitioner’s Exhibits 1a throngh 1d. These exhibits
specifically reference six admissions by M.R. to Cedars Medical Center - (1) January 3,
1998 to Janvary 9, 1998 - Admitting Physician Dr. Magaly Alonso/Attending Dr. Cruz;

{2) August 16 to August 20, 1998 admission - Admitting/Attending Physician Dr. Croz;

* Petitioner specifically alleged at paragraph 12 of the Administrative Complaint filed December
30, 2002 that M.R. was hospitalized on six occasions and that the Respondent was the admitting
and attending physician for each admission. The records admitted show that Respondent was both
the attending and admitting physician for all admissions but the January 1998 admission,

10
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(3) October 17, 1999 to October 28, 1999 admission - Admitting/Attending Physician Dr.

Cruz; (4) May 26, 2000 to June 1, 2000 admission - Admitting/Attending Physician Dr.

Cruz ; (5) June 4, 2000 to June 8, 2000 admission - Admitting/Attending Physician Dr.

Cruz; and (6) Augnst 18, 2000 to August 25, 2000 admission - Admitting/Attending
Physician Dr. Cruz. (See T. Vol. I April 10, 2003 pg. 44). Petitioner’s Exhibit 1b also
coutains records from Baptist Hospital for August 2@, 2001 (circled numbered pages 575-
596) but these records were not relevant to the express charges of the Administrative
Complaint, post-dated M.R.’s care with the Respondent, and concerned care rendered by
others not the Respondent. It should not have been included with the exhibits admitted at
the formal hearing. The same is true for Petitioner’s Exhibit 1d as it also coniains records
from Mercy Hospital for Augnst 20, 2001 to August 25, 2001 (circied numbered pages

1146-1246) but these records were not relevant to the express charges of the

Administrative Complaint, post-dated M.R."s care with the Respondent, and concerned
care rendered by others not the Respondent. It should not have been included with the
exhibits admitted at the formal hearing. As evidenced by both sets of records, Respondent
was not the admitting or attending physician when M.R. was admitted to Baptist or

Mercy Hospital.

Also, when asked zbout the number of admissions occurring during the time ML.R. was
under the care of the Respondent, M.R. could only state that she was admitted to the
hospital on a number of occasions without recalling the specific number. Her express
statement when asked to quantify the number of admissions was “A Iot.” (T. Vol. I April
10, 2003; pg. 66, line 16). When asked whether this was more than five, she testified that

it was greater than five occasions. (T. Vol. | April 10, 2003; pg. 66). Later, when asked,

11
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M.R. testified that during the time she was under Respondent’s care, she was admitted to
the hospital almost every two months and that this frequency of admissions was during
the entire time of her care by Respondent. (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003, pg. 119). Only the
records for six admissions were placed in evidence contradicting the testimony given by
MR. that she was admitted almost every two months during the entire time she was
under Respondent’s care. (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pE. 119).

Exception 3. Page 10, paragraph 16, endnote 6 at page 36 stating: “The evidence
failed to prove whether MR.'s room was actually monitored at any time pertinent to this
matter.”

There is no competent evidence to support this conclusion by the Administrative
Law Judge. In fact, the evidence was to the contrary’.

The excerpted hospital records for Cedars Medical Center admitted into evidence as
Petitioner’s Exhibits 1a - 1d contain logs completed by the personne] of Cedars Medical
Center showing that they conducted continuous visual monitoring checks of M.R. every
15 minutes from the time she was admitted to the time she was discharged. These
monitoring checks including visual monitoring of M.R. from 12:45 pm. to 2:00 pm.
every 15 minutes during the dates of her admission®.

The monitoring logs are entitled “Psychiatric Intensive Watch Sheet” and they are

time, dated, and initialed by the staff of Cedars and coded as to the location and behavior

* The reference in the endnote is not specific and in context, it could also relate to the system of
audio monitoring available at the nurse's station at Cedars Medical Center. There was no
evidence offered on whether or not M.R.’s room was also monitored during the time pertinent to
this case through use of the andio system. However, the Administrative Law Judge's statement is
unclear and should be remanded for clarification if not stricken.

® M.R. testified that the time Respondent wonld ask her to be in the shower was 1:00 p.m. and

that she would stay there until he arrived. (T, Vol. I April 10, 2003;pg. 117). She was never noted
by the staff to be in the shower between 12:45 p.m. and 1:00 p-m. on any date of admission.

12
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of M.R. at the time of each monitoring check. The logs represent continuous monitoring

of Patient MLR. by the Cedars medical staff every fifteen minutes during her inpatient
hospitalizations. The logs are found in the Petitioner's Exhibits 1a through 1d at the
circled numbered pages 309 to 315 for the January 3, 1998 to January 9, 1998 admission;
circled numbered pages 159 to 163 for the August 16 to August 20, 1998 admission;
circled numbered pages 371 to 379 and 381 to 382 for the October 17, 1999 to October
28, 1999 admisston; circled numbered pages 666 to 672 for the May 26, 2000 to June 1,
2000 admission; circled numbered pages 920 to 924 for the June 4 to June 8, 2000
admission; and circled nurnbered pages 966 to 973 for the Aungust 18, 2000 to August 25,
2000 admission.

These logs show that Patient M.R. was generally either in her room at 1:00 p.m. each
day of admission or was at the nursing station or one of the halls/dinning halls and
occasionally, she would be in the treatment/therapy room or on at least one occasion, the
smoking room. With the exception of the date of August 16, 1998 at 1:30 p.m. (Pla;
circled numbered page 163), MLR. was not noted by the Cedars Medical Staff to have
ever been in her bathroom at or around 1:00 p.m. during any admission. See logs at pages
previously referenced. Even with this single exception, M.R. was out of the bathrocom by
the next staff visit at 1:45 p.m. (Pla; circled numbered page 163),

Additionally, Petitioner's Exhibits la through 1d contain numerons entries by the
healthcare providers attending to Patient M.R. indicating continuous interaction with
M.R. throughout her hospitalizations with said interactions also time, dated, and initialed

as to when events and interactions with M.R. occurred.

13
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Exception 4, Page 11, paragraph 24 of the Recommended Order, that part

stating: “On those occasions when Dr. Cruz took MUR. to the Starlite, he would
...register for a room, using a fictitious name, and then park his car nearer the room.”

There is no competent evidence that Dr. Cruz ever registered at the Starlite, using a
fictitious name, or moved his car afier registering to be nearer the room.

M.R. testified that the routine used by Dr. Cruz for each time they went to the Starite
was the same except on the last time they went, August 17, 2001. (T. Vol. I pg. 78-80;
102-105). M.R. indicated that “He would drive, go to the office, pazk the car, and tell me
not to get out of the car. Then he would come back with the key. Then I would get out of
the car with him, and we’d go to the room together.” (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pg. 102)
She went on to say that Dr. Cruz always used this routine when they went to the Starlite.
(T. Vol. 1 April 10, 2003; pg. 102). She said it never varied except for August 17, 2001,
(T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pgs. 102-103). Then she backed off her statement slightly and
indicated at first, it would always be the same parking spot where he parked his car each
time they went to the mote] and then a few moments later, she changed her testimony,
that he would sometimes park in one of the same two spaces. (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003;
pg. 103-104). M.R. did not testify that Dr. Cruz ever registered using a fictitious name or
after returning from the office, he would move his car to be near the parking space. In
fact, she testified that since it was not his routine, his backing the car out of the space on
August 17, 2001 surprised her. (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pg. 104-105). According to
M.R., Dr. Cruz was already parked in one of the two spaces he used when they would

routinely go to the motel. (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pg. 104-105).
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Ms. Martha (arcia, the motel operator, testified that persons renting a room for greater

than 6 hours (what she defined as equaling a full day) were required to provide
identification but that in the past, rather than require identification, they would record the
person’s car tag number on the registration card. (T. Vol I Apnl 10, 2003; pg. 271, 276,
277).

There was no testimony by any witness that Dr. Cruz registered at the motel under a
fictitious name or if he did register, failed to provide identification to the motel clerk, or
rent a room for less than 6 kours at a time during any of the occasions he allegedly took
M.R. to the motel. None of the investigators who conducted the video surveillance on
August 17, 2001 could state that Dr. Cruz registered at the motel, paid any amount for the

room, registered upder a fictitious name, failed to provide the motel clerk with

identification, or rented a room for less than 6 hours. (See J3; P6at pg. 14; T. Vol. I
April 10, 2003; pgs. 166-263). At most, the witnesses could state that Dr. Cruz went to
the motel office and then returned to his car. There is no registration in card admitied at
the formal hearing that bears Respondent’s name or any other identifying information.
{P5 & R35). There was no registration card admitted at the formal hearing for August 17,
2001 bearing the Respondent’s name or any name for the time period referenced on the
videotapss of the surveillance. (P4; P5; P6; R5).

Exception 5. Page i1, paragraph 24, endnote 8 found at page 36 of the
Recommended Order, that part stating: “...Because Dr. Cruz rented for less than a
night, he was not asked to supply anything to verify the name he used to register.”

There is no competent evidence that Dr. Cruz rented for less than a night on August

17, 2001 or for any other period of time. Nor was there any competent evidence that
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assuming Dr. Cruz did register, he was not asked to supply anything to verify the name
he used to register. See discussion with respect to Exception Number 4 above,

Exception 6. Page 13, paragraph 31, endnote 10 found at page 36 of the
Recommended Order, that part stating: “...For an incoming telephone call, the
tecord of M.R.’s phone recorded the time that was used up taking the incoming call and
simply listed her telephone number as both the originating number and the receiving
number.”

This reference is to the testimony of Herb Graner, a representative of Verizon, Mr.
Graner testified that at the time, for prepaid cellular phones, Verizon did not have the
ability to track incoming phone calls. (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pgs. 55-57). Further, that
incoming phone calls would be identified on the owner's bill with the notation
“incoming” on their bill. (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pg. 56). If the originating number and
recipient number were the same on the bill, it was another way to check voice mail “or it
could be an incoming call.” (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pg. 56-57). Mr. Graner did not
testify that the only explanation for the originating number and recipient number being
recorded as the same number was that the phone received an incoming call.

Additionally, M.R. testified that her cellular number was (786-423-0131") and in
reviewing the Verizon records, “And this 786-423 — that’s me getting mﬁ messages,
again....” (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pg. 138).

Therefore, there is not competent substantial evidence to support this finding by the

Administrative Law Judge.

" M.R. also testified that at the time of the formal hearing, she had thrown out the phone and that
the number was no longer hers. (T. Vol. [ April 10, 2003; pg. 135).
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Additionally, M.R. testified that within a few minutes of activating her phone, she

received the call from the Respondent. That this oceurred while she was in the car with
James Wright and Luis Villa. (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pg. 75-76). In her words, “When
I went to the car of Jim Wright, right away, he called. Jim Wright heard him and
everything.” (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pg- 75). She further went on to say they went to
Denny's after she got the call. (T. Vol 1 April 10, 2003; pg. 76-77). James Wright
testified that MR, received a call while she was in his car and before they got to the
Denny’s for lunch. He also indicated that Lunis Villa was with them in the car, (T. Vol. 1
April 10, 2003; pg. 214). He did not remember M.R. receiving any calls while they were
at the Denny’s. (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pg. 214). Luis Villa thought the call occurred
while they were at the Denny’s during lunch. (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pg. 222). He also
indicated that he caught up with M.R. at the Radio Shack about 7 minutes after she left
Dr. Cruz’s office - she had left his office at about 11:45 2.m. on Angust 16, 2001. (J3 pgs.
36-37). He also recalled that M.R.’s telephone call occurred while they were at the
Denny’s but that she could have made it up as to whom she was speaking. Nonetheless,
he believed she was speaking to someone. (J3 pgs. 37-38). He could not recall if she
received a phone call or if she placed the call only that she had used it after it was
allegedly reactivated. (J3 pgs. 17-18).

Exception 7. Page 13, paragraph 33 of the Recommended Order stating: “M.R.
and the investigator left the store and went to lunch, where they were joined by the
second investigator, While at lunch, Dr. Cruz called M.R. on her cellular phone and told

her that he would pick her up at the Grocery Store the following day, August 17, 2001.”
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There is no competent evidence that M.R. and the investigator whom she met at the

Radio Shack went to lunch where they were joined by the second investigator.
Additionally, other than Luis Villa’s unclear testimony as to whether M.R. made a call or
received a call while they were at lunch, there is no testimony that Dr. Cruz called MLR.
while they were at the Denny’s.

The testimony of the witnesses were contrary to these findings.

See discussion with respect to Exception 6 above and also, please note that each
witness, M.R., James Wright, Luis Villa, and Oscar Santa Maria, testified that MR. left
the store and got into James Wright’s car along with Luis Villa and that Oscar Santa
Maria, the third investigator joined thern for lunch at the Denny’s. (J3 pgs. 16-18, 35-38;
P6 pg. 10; T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pgs. 75-77, 92-98, 214).

Exception 8. Page 13, paragraph 33, endnote 12, that part found on page 37 of
the Recommended Order stating: “This is consistent with how incoming telephone
calls were recorded at that time and corroborates M.R."s testimony that she received a
call from Dr. Cruz that while at lunch.”

There is no competent substantial evidence to support this finding by the
Administrative Law Judge.

See discussion for Exceptions 6 and 7 above.

Exception 9. Page 13, paragraph 33, endnote 12, that part found on page 37 of
the Recommended Qrder stating: “...one of the investigators, who is fluent in
Spanish, overheard M.R. say in Spanish that she would meet the person she was speaking

with at the normal place, referring to the Grocery Store.”
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There is not competent evidence to support this finding by the Administrative Law
Judge.

Luis Viila, the investigator who overheard the call, testified that “She was talking
to the person on the phone. 1 didnt know who it was at first, and basically she was
talking in Spanish and she was talking to him, she said to him - - she said to him ‘I'[l
meet you at the same place’ or words to that effect, or ‘Okay, not today.” That was about
it” (I3 pg. 17-18). James Wight testified that he did not speak Spanish and could only
understand that M.R. was having a conversation. (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003; pg. 177). It
was after the conversation that according to James Wright, M.R. said it was Dr. Cruz and
that he was going to meet her at the Winn Dixie the next day. (T. Vol. I April 10, 2003;
PE. 177).

Exception 10. Page 18, paragraph 46 of the Recommended Order, that part
stating: “...and caused ber emotional distress, nightmares, sleeplessness, confusion, and
depression.”

There is no competent evidence to support this finding by the Administrative Law
Judge.

While Respondent does not dispute that sexual misconduct with a patient can cause
the harm listed by the Administrative Law Judge®, there was no evidence presented that
MR. suffered emotional distress, nightmares, sleeplessness, confusion, and depression
as a direct result of the wrongful conduct found by the Administrative Law J udge.

Dr George Joseph did not tesufy that the symptoms M.R. experienced were caused by
the wrongful conduct found by the Administrative Law Judge. He actually noted that the

stressors in MLR.'s life and her manic-depressive (Bipolas) disorder could cause her
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symptoms including the requirement for her to be hospitalized cutside of any allegation

of sexual misconduct. (Deposition testimony of Dr. Joseph January 12, 2004, P7, pgs. 19-
20, 29-32).

Excepticn 11. Page 19, paragraph 50 and endnote 16 found at page 37 of the
Recommended Order to the extent that the Administrative Law Judge suggests the
Respondent violated Section 458.331(1)(m), Florida Statutes and that the issue of
whether a physician viclated the standard of care the care provided is not relevant
to whether medical records justified the care,

The review of this matter by Dr. Joseph was retrospective and involved only a review
of medical records and other information furnished to him by the Department of Health.
(P7 & R8). Dr. Joseph concluded that as far as Respondent’s medication management
and care of M.R.’s bipolar conditicn, Respondent did not violate the standard of care. (P7
& RR) He had no opinion on whether Respondent committed the wrongful conduct. (P7
& R8). For Dr. Joseph to conclude that Respondent did not violate the standard of care,
from review of the records, which he noted were partially illegible and cursory, Dr.
Joseph by necessity had to conclude that the medical records justified the care rendered
by Dr. Cruz; i.e., they conformed to the standard of care. (R8 pg. 46-47). Therefore, no
violation of Section 458.331(1)}m), Florida Statutes was proven other than to show that
they were partially illegible and cursory. There was no testimony that the records by
being partially illegible and/or cursory was a violation of Section 458.331(1Xm), Florida
Statutes.

Exception 12. Page 28, paragraph 69 of the Recommended Order stating:

“Based upon the testimony of Dr. Joseph, this charge has also been proved.”

¥ See deposition testimony of Dr. Joseph January 12, 2004, P7, pgs. 19-20, 29-32.
20
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Although Dr. Joseph did find Respondent’s notes partially illegible and cursory, he
never concluded that the Respondent's medical records failed to justify the care he
rendered to M.R. His testimony was that Respondent’s care of M.R.’s bipolar
condition and his management of her medications was within the standard of care. (P7
and R8). This finding and conclusion by the Administrative Law Judge should be

stricken.

Given the errors made by the Administrative Law Judge, it is appropriate for this
Board to reject the above stated factual findings, endnotes, and conclusions of law and
remand this matter for reconsideration of the record, clarification, and/or a new hearing,

WHEREFORE, Respondent respectfully requests that the Board of Medicine accept
the Respondent’s exceptions to the recommended order, strike/reject those portions of the

recommended order described above, and remand the case to the Administrative Law
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488-9325; to Joy L. Doss, Assistant General Counsel, Practitioner Regulation - Legal,
Department of Health, 4052 Bald Cypress Way, Bin # C65, Tallahassee, Florida 32399,
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Counsel, Board of Medicine, Office of the Attorney General, the Capitol PL-0I,
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tree and correct facsimile copy and overnight courier to: MQA- Clerk for the Department

of Health at 4052 Bald Cypress Way, Bin CO01, Tallahassee, Flori 701,
facsimile (850) 414-7 this April 30, 2
. /
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- STATE OF FLORIDA "E’m & Hewy
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH o s |1 iy
BOARD OF MEDICINE kb Cobivnan
' MIE_ A - oo
DEPARTMENT OF HEALYH, ———
BOARD OF MEDICINE, :
Petitioner,
DOH Case No. 2001-16808
V5. DOAH Case No. D3-0056PL
JOSE ANIBAL CRUZ, M.D.,
Respandent,
/
P NE ESPONSE T

RECOMMENDED ORDER

Petiticner, the Department of Health, pursuant to Rule 28-106.217, Florida
Administrative Code, files this response in opposftion to Respondent’s Bxceptions
to the Recommended Order and statas:

INTRODUCTION

On December 30, 2002, the Departinent of Health filed an Administrative
Complaint against Respondent afleging vioiations of Section 458.331(1)(}}, (%),
{t}, 8nd {m), Florida Statutes, for exercising influsnce In 3 patient/physidan
relaﬁnnsmjp for purposes of engaging a Palient, M.R., In seiual activity, sexual
misconduet, failing to practice within stantard of care, and falling t keep icgible
medical records that justify the course of treatment of M.,

On January 8, 2003, Respondent, through counsel, filled a request for a
formal hearing, Indicating that he dispubed the allegations of fact contained in
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the Administrative Complaint and reguesting a formal administrative hearing
pursuant to Section 120.569(2){a), Horida Statutes.

Shortly before the commencement of the final hearing, Petitioner filed
Pelitionar's Motioh to Preclude Respondent’s Testmony or Molion In Liming,
seeking to prevent the Respondent from testifying at the final hearing tue to his
assartion of his right to remain silent, guarantocd by the Fith Amendment to the
Constitution, and Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitition, on selective
guestions posed by the Petitioner during a; partion of the Respondent’s
deposition taken March 25, 2003.

The final hearing was held Aprl 10 and 11, 2003, in Miami, Forida before
L‘arry 2, Sartin, Administrative Law Judge. However, due to the presentation of
addiional cdiscovery materials immediately prior to the hearnng by the
Respondent to the Petitianer, i was determined that t‘he hearing would not ba
completed at that time.

The defay in the completion of the final hearing allowed Administrative
Law Judge Larry 3. Sertin an opportunity to review the questions for which the
Respondent asserted a Fifth Amendment privilege and to dstermine whether the
privilege was property asserhad, to allow the Respondent the opportunity to
answer any questions for which the Fith Amendment privilege was impropery
asserled, and to decide whether any sanctions should be imposed on
Respondent, On Aprl! 18, 2003, Larry 1. Sarun, Administrative Law Judge, Issued
an Order Conterming Petitioner's Motion to Predude Respandent’s Testimony or

P.g2
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Motion i Limine requiring the Respondent bo answer specific questions pused by
the Pelitioner during the March 25, 2003 deposition.

On May 19, 2003, the Respontient Med a Betidon for Writ of Common Law
Certiorar with the Third District Court of Appeal to review the ruling. On June 3,
2004, this matier was placed in sbeyance until the resglution of al} matters
relating n tha April 18, 2003 onder. On or about September 26, 2003, the Third
District Court of Appeal denled Respondent’s petition. The remainder of the
administrative hearing was set for Janyary 14 and 1S, 2004, Pursuant to a joint
agreement among the patties and Larry 1. Sarlin, Administrative Law Judge, the
heating was rescheduled and held January 28, 2004,

' At the formal heating, Petitioner presentad the testimony of Herb Graher,
M.R., Pivale Investiystor James Wright, Private Investigator Luis Vila, Martha
Garda, Mercedes Moral, Michele Flores, and Josc A. Melendez. Respondant
offered the t&timony of Franciaco 1. Pages, M.0., Lyudmila Litvinova, George E.
Lopez, Jullan Noderse, M.D, and Michsle Flores, Both partes offered Into
evidence numerous axhibits that were also considered by the Administrative Law
Judge (ALY,

On April 15, 2004, Lany J. Sartin, Administrative Law Judgs, Issued a
Recommended Owder finding that Respondent exercised influence over MR,
within the physician-patient reistionship for purposes of engaging her in sexual
activity, engeged in sexual misconduct, falled tn practice within the smndard of
care, and felled to keep legible mecical records for MR., violating Section
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458.331(3)(3’), {m), (), and (x), Florida Stabutes, and recommending that
Respondent’s license to practice medicine be revoked,

On April 30, 2004, Bespandent filed exceptions to the recommended
order, dting general exceplions, exceptions to the manner in which the
proceedings were conducted, and spedific exceptions o findings of fact and
conclusions of law. Por the reasons which fotlow, Respondent’s exceptions should
be denied.

STANDARD OF REVIEW
1. Sectlon 120.57(1)(k), Florlda Statules, authorizes the submission of

exceplions t0 & recommended order. Parties may file exoaptions to both findings
of fact and condlusions of law contained within the recommended order. Any
Pty may then file rcsponses to the opposing parky’s exceptions. Rule 28-
106.217, Forida Administrattve Code.
2. Section 120.57(1X1), Florida Statutes, provides that the Board may
not reject or modify the findings of fact uniess the Board first determines from a
seview of the entlre record, and states with particularity in the ander, that the
findings of fact were not based upon competent substantial evidence or that the
procecdings on which the findings wens based did not comply with esvential
reftirements of law,
' 3. Competent substantial evidenca Is defincd as such evidence 2s will
estabiish a substantial basis of fact from which the foct at issue can ba
reasonably infered. Stated morc clearly, it s such relevant evidence as a
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rﬁawnalg_le mind would accept as adequate to Support o condlusion. De Groot v,
Sheffield, 95 So. 2d 912, 916 (Fla. 1957}

4. Itis the rola of the AL to consider all evidence presented, resolve
corflicts, judge credibility of witnesses, draw permissible Inferences from
evidence, and reach ultimate findings of fact based on substantial compecbent
evidence. Martucsin. v.
Qotonetry, 622 So0.2d 607 (Fia. 1* DCA 1993); Heifetz v, Dept. of Business
Begulation, 475 So.2d 1277, 1281 (Ha. 1™ DCA 1585).

5. When determining whether to reject or modity frdings of fact in a

recommended order, the Board Is not permitted to re-weigh the evidence, judge
tha credibility of witnesses, or to inicrpret the evidence, as those are evidentiary
matters solcly within the pravince of the AL as the firider of fact. Grogs v, Dopk,
of Health, 819 So.2d 997, 1001 (Fia. 5 DCA 2002). The Board may not re-
evaluate the quantity and quality of the evidence beyond a determination of
whether the evidence is competent and substantial. Brogan v. Carter, 671 So.2d
822, 823 (Fa. 1% DCA 1996),

6.  The Board may not reject or modify conclusions of law unless it

'States with particulatity its reasons for doing so and makes a finding that its

substituted conclusion of {aw is as or more reasonable than that which was
rejected or modified. Section 120.57(1)(1), Florida Statutes.
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- ETO NDE GENERA N

1. Respondent excepts to Paragraph 10 that states: “From the
beginning of Dr. Cruz’s treatmant of MR, he began making inappropriate,
flitatlous comments to her, including comments about her hair and physical
appearance,” Respondent asserts that the finding falls outside of the express
charges of the Administrative Complaint, Respondent argues that Paragraph § ot
the Administrative Complaint, filed on December 30, 2002, sets forth the time
freme for when the alieged wrongful conduct began to oo, Respondent's
exception 1o this finding s not material ko the ukimabe issues In this case,

To the extent that Petitioer asserted that other “facts,” not epecifically
afieged in the Administrative Complaint, were proven that suppon; the conclusion
that Respondent was guilly of exercising Influence in a patient/physican
relationship, sexual misconduct, and practicing below the standard of care, the
ALY, in the Recoramended Order, simted, in Endoote 17, that “facts . . . not
having been specifically alleged in support of the charges against Dr. Cn,
cannot form the basis for any finding of a disciplinable violadon.” The ALY
sssertion in Endnote 17 should be suficlent to assure the Board that the ALYs
findings and conclusions were not based upon facts that were not appropriately
and specifically alleged In the Administrative Complaint,

Furthermore, an Administrative Complaint Is not required to fulfil tha
technical niceties of a legal pleading, The Administrative Complaint must be
specific enough to inform the actused with reasonable certainty of the nature of
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the charges. Ghani v. Department of Health, 714 So0.2d 113 (Fla. 1% DCA, 1998).
Here, m; Deparfment's Administrative Complaint was dearly specific encugh to
inform the Respondent, with reasonably certalnty, of the nature ¢f the charges,
The fact that “Respondent made inappropnate, fiftatious comments to har,
including comments about her hair and physical appearance” was not specifivally
alleged as substantiating & vioktion of Sectlon 458.331{1)(3), (t), or (x), Fotida

Statutes. As k was not a fact alleged specifically as & substantive violation of
458.331(1)(3), (®), or (), Florida Statutes, & need not have been speciically
alleged In the Administrative Compiaint, This fatt is not material to the uitimate
Issues in this case,

Respondent asks the Board to re-weigh the evidenwe and judge the
credibility of the testimony presented, When determining whether to reject or
modlify findings of fact In a recommended order, the Board is not permitted to

" re-weigh the evidence, jutige the aediblity of withasses, or to interpret the
evidence, as those are evidentiary matbars salely within the province of the ALY
as the finder of fact, Grogs v, Dept. of Health, 819 So.2d 997, 1001 (Fla, 5™ DCA
2002). There does exist competent substantial evidence to support the AL's
finding that from the beginning of Respopdent’s treatment of M,R., he began
making inappropriate, fiiratious comments to hey, including comments about hep
hair and physical appearance, (ir., b. 62).

Based upon the foregoing reasons, tha Board should deny Respondents
exception.
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2. Respondent also takes oxception to the extent that Paregraphs 11,
12, 13, 14, and 21 are incomplate in that they do not reference the specific time
periad # which the wrongful conduct orourmed.

It is the role of the AL to consider aff cvidonce presented, resolve

conflicts, judge crediblity of witnesses, drsw permissible inferences from

evidence, and reach ultimete findings of fact based on substantial competent

Qptometry, 622 So2d 607 (Fla. 1* DCA 1993); Heffelz v. Deot, of Dusiness
Regulation, 475 So.2d 1277, 1281 (Fla. 1* (XA 1985). Atthough 2 specific date is
not referenced n the aforcmentioned findings .uf fact, there exisls competent
substantial evidence in the record to support the ALY findings. Furthermore, the
fact thet a specific date is not referenced is irrelevant to the ulimate issues in
this case. Based on Ihe foregoing, the Board shouki deny Respondent's
exceplion.

3. Respondent also takes exception to the manner in which pettdoner
prosecuted this manner.

‘The discovery issues raised by the Respondent concemning the videotape,
relating to another mitter entirely, were resoived at the formal hearing by the
AL, AL the formal hearing, Respondent argued that he had been prujudiced by
Petitoners fallure to disclose this videotape during discovery. At that tima, the
Al made a detcrmination that because the videotape was not qoing to be

offered into evidrnos Respondent had not been prejudiced by the withholding of
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the videgtape by the Peditioner. The ALY then Indicated to both parties that
should the videotape be offered Into evidence for any bpurpose he would
reconsider his nuling. The ALY further stated that he would not allow the
videotape Into evidence Lnless there wes some effective meuns to eliminate any
possible prejudice to the Respondent by not having been provided the tape
earfier during discovery, {Tr., pp. 7-8). The videotzpe was never offered intp
eviderce.

The AL has already visited and ruled on this discovery issue excapted to
by Respondertt, It 1s clear that the ALY determined, after argument from both
Petfioner and Respondent, that Respondent had not been projudiced by
Peﬂﬁoneré withholding of the videotane, which was unrelated o this ease, from
Raspondent,

The Board may not relect or modify the findings of fact unless the Board
first determines from a review of the entire record, and states With particularity
in the order, that the findings of facl were not based upon competent substantiai
evidence or that the procsedings on which the findings were based did not
comply witlh essential requirements of law. Section 120.57(1)(1), Florida Statutes.
Respaondent falled to articulate with specificy how the proceedings on which the
findings were based did rot comply with essential requirements of faw. It is
clear, by review of the record, thal the proceedings were conducted Falrdy and in
acrordance with the requitements of law. Based upon the foregoing,
Respondent’s excepton should be denied.

P.89




MAY~11-2064 18:129 PHCAALEGAL. MEDICAL BS@ 414 1983

RESPONSE TO RESPONDENT'S EXCEPTIONS TO FINDINGS OF FACT

1, Réspmdent takes excoption to the portion of Parsgraph § that
states: “from January 1994 untit August 2001, seeing her at least once a month
for pharmacologic management.”  Respondent assetts that there is rno
competent evidence o support the ALYs conclusion that M.R. saw the
Respondant at a frequancy of onge 3 month during the entire seven year period
M.R. was under the care of Respondent.

In the argument supporting Respondent’s exception, Respondent assens
that M.R.'s testimony could not form the basis for clear and convincing evidence
to support the violations alleged. Respondent dearly proposes that the Board re-
weigh the evidence presentad at the formal hearing and judge the credibilty of
M.R.'s Testimony. Petitioner remings the Board that the Board s not permitied to
re-weigh the avidance, judge the credibllity of witnesses, of Lo Inteypret the
evidence, as those are evidentiary matters sokedy within the province of the ALD
as the finder of fact. Heifetz v. Dept, uf Busiress Reauiation, 475 So.2d 1277,
1281 (Fa. 1™ DCA 1985).

There [s competent substantial evidence to show that while MR, was
under the direct care of Respondent, Respondant would see MR, at least onge a
month for pharmacological management and briefereality oriented therapy
sessions. (Joint Exhibit 1). However, Petitioner agrees with Respandent that the
ALY's phrasing of the Anding of fact may be misinterpreted, Therefore, although

10
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Respondent’s exception is not matcrdl o the ultimate issues in thls case,
Petitioner proposes that Paregraph 9 be cliarified and amended to read:

“Dr, Cruz trested MR for manic-depression from January 1954 until
August 2081, During the time that M.R.' was under Dr. Cruz's direct care, Dr.
Crue saw her 2t teast once a month for pharmacological management and brief
reality-ctiented therapy sessions,”

2. Respondent tmikes ewception to the portion of Paragraph 15 that

states: "0 five occasions, Dr. Cruz hosphalized MR, in the psychiatric unit at
Cedars Medical Center.” Respondant argues that M.R. was admitted to Cedars on
&t least six different occasions, Respondent does, however, contede that there is
competant evidence to support the ALT's canciusion that Respondent admitted
Patient M .R. to Cedars on five oceasions.
 Althaugh Respondent may be techrically correct regarding ihe total
number of occasions thal M.R. was admitted to Cedars Medical Center, the
number of occasions the ALY concluded that the Respondent admitted MR, to
Cedars Medlcal Cehter 15 accurate. As contded by the Respondent, there Is
competent substantial ovidence that the Respondent adwilied MR, to Cedars
Medical Center, an five ocrasions. On one of the six occasions Respondent
references, M.R. was admitted to Cedars Medical Centet, not by the Respondeant
- but by Dr. Magaly Alonso. On that occasion, Respordent was the atbending
physiclan. (Patiioner’s Exhibit 1A, 18, 1C, 1D). Therefore, with competent
substartial evidence o support the ALYs finding that Respundent admitted M.R.

H
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0 Cedari Medical Center on five occasions, the Board should deny Respondents
exception.

3. Respondent takes exception to Paragraph 16 Endnate 6 that states:
“the evidence falled to prove whether M.R.’s room was actually monitored at any
time pertinent to this matter.” Respondent asseits that there is no competent
evidence to support thia condusion by the AL Respondents Footnote 5,
however, points out that Endnote & of the Recommmended Qrder could also refer
to the systern of sudio monttoring avaifable at the nurse’s statlon at Cedars
Medical Center, Respondent then concedes that there was no evidence offered
on whether or not MRS reom was also monftored during the time pertinent in
this case.

It is the ALY's funclion to consider all the evidence, resolve conflicts and

reach ultimale findings of fact. Helfetz_yv, Dopt. of Business Requiation, 475
So.2d 1277 (Fla. 1" DXCA 1985). The weighing of evidence and the judging of the

credlbliity of witmesses are sclely the prerngative of the ALT as the finder of fack,

S0.2d 607 (Fin. 1% DCA 1993). After considering all the evidence, the AL found

that the svidence failed to prove whether M.R.’s room was actually monifored at
any time pertinent to this matter. The Board may nat re-weigh the evidence, and
with competent substantial evidence supporting the ALYs finding the Board must
deny Responhdent's exception.

12
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4. Pespondent takes cxception to the portion of Paragraph 24 thet
| states: *On those occasions when Dr. Cruz took M.R. Lo the Starfite, he would...
register for a room, using a fictitious name, and then park his car nearer the
room.” Respondent asserts thal there is no competent evidence that Or, Oz
ever registered b the Starlite, usig a fictitigus name, or moved his car after
reglstering to be nearer the ropm.

At the formal hearing, Petitioner presented the testimony of MR, who
testified axtensively on her refgtionship with the Respondent and discussed in
detail her numerous encounters with the Respondent at the Starfite, {Tr., pp. 63-
129). It can be reasonably inferred that in order to rent a room at the Starlite on

those oocasions Respondent would have had to register with the hotel office,

MR further testified that on August 17, 2001 Respondent took her to the
Swriite motel, entered the office and retumed with a room key. (Tr. pp. 69-
B80,100-107). Tt can also be reasonzbly inferred that on August 17, 2001, in order
for the Respondent to- have obtained a room key, the Respondent must have
registered with the hotal office,

Petitioner alsd presepted the testimony of the private Investigatoss, who
conducted vidco surveillance of the Respondent and M.R. on August 17, 2001. It
was their testimany that the Respondunt took MR, to the Stariits, entered tha
hatel office, and then returned a faw minutes later and began t move the r.
(Tr. 179-184; Petttoner's Exhibit 4; Petitioner’s Exhibit 6). Tt can be reasonably

13
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inferred from the testimony presented that on August 17, 2001 Respondent
registered at the Stardite motel,

A review of the August 17, 2001 registration cards and the registration
cards from other dates on which the Respandsnt took MR- to the Starfile reveal
that Respondent did not provide his real name when registering for the motel
rooms. {Respondsnt’s Exhibit 5; Petfioner's Exhibtc 5). % can be regsonably
infarred that because the Respondent did not provide his real nome he must
have used a ficiitious name when registering.

Patitioner also offered Into evidence two videokapes which corroborated
both the testimony of MLR. and of the private investigaiors, who were conduating
surveliiance on August 17, 7001, and provided the ALY with an unambiguous
piciure of the Respordent’s actions while at the Sarfite on August 17, Z001.
(Petitioner's Exhibit 4; Petitioner's Exhibit &),

Respondent’s exception asks this Boord to re-weigh the evidence and
make a determination as to whether the Respondent ever reyisterex] at the
Starlite, using @ fictitious name, 2nd to detenmine Respondent's parking habits
while at the Starlite. The welghing of evidence and fudging of the credibility of
witnesses are solely the prerogative of the AL as the finder of fact. Martucdo v,
Depardment of Professional Requiation, Board of Optomelry, 622 So.2d 607 {Fa.
1% DCA 1993). There exists compohent substantis] evidence to suppost the ALYS
finding of fact, Thercfore, Respondent’s exception should be denfed.

14
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5. Respondent takes exception o Paragraph 24 endnote 8.that states:
“Becaus;- Dr. Cruz rented for less than a night, he was hot asked o supply
anything to verily the name he used to register.” Respondant asserts that there
Is no competent evidence that Dr. Cruz rented for less than a night on August
17, 2001 or far any other period of time and that there is no competent evidenca

that assuming Dr. Cruz did register, he was not asked 1o supply anything to

verify the name he used to register, Rexpondent asks the Board to re-weigh the

evidence and Judge the credibility of the witncsses presented at the formal
hegring,

At the format hearing, an employes of the Starlite testified that the Stariite
rents rooms both by the hour and by the day. The employee further testified that
more than thres-quariers of the guests of the Startite rent by the hour, If the
paton daes not rent for the purposes of staying overnight, the Starfite does not
require them to provide identification. It 15 only i the patron does rent for the
night that the hote! otaff notes the patron’s driver's ficense number en the
registration card. {TT., pp. 326, 329, 331. 333, 346).

By absence of 2 Stariite registration card with the Respondent’s name ang
driver’s ficense mumber, it can be reasonably inferred that the Respondant never
rented for the purposes of staying overnight, which is corrborated by MR
testimony. (Petitioner’s Exhibit 5), Furthermore, based upon the practice of the
hotel to not ask patrons to show identification when renling for less than a night,
i can E_llso reasonably be inferred that because the Respondent never rented for

15
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the purposes of staying ovemnight Respondent was never asked to provide
identification.
M.R. testifled that the Respondent had taken her to the Startite motel on

numercus Drc2sions In order to engage in sexua) relgtions. (Tr., pp. 73, 127). It

cen be rezsonably inferred that in order to cbizin a wom from the Starilte
Respondent had to register with the motel office. Based on the extensive
testimany of M.R., conceming her relationship with the Respondent and their
encounters at the Starite motel, It can be reasonably intorred that Respondent
did not renl for a night at the Starite, Thercfore, he was never required by hotel
staff to provide photo identification, verifying the name he used to register. (Tr.
pp.65-129).

It Is e AL)'s function to consider 2)) the evidence, resolve fonflicts and
resch ulfmate findings of facl. Helfelz v, Deot, of Busingss Reguiation, 475
So.2d 1277 {Fa. 1% DCA 1985). The weighing of evidence and the judging of the
credibliity of witnesses are splely the prerogative of the AL as the finder of fact.
Martucdo v. Department of Professional Regulation, Board of Optymetry, 622
So.2d 607 (Fa, 1™ DCA 1993). There exists computent substantial evigence in
the record to show that on August 17, 2001 and on numerous other oocasions
Respondent rented a room et the Starike for less than a night. There is aiso
competent substantial evidence to show that the Respondent, because he never
tented a room for the purposes ¢of staying overnight, was: never required to

6
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provide Jdentification, verifying the name he used o tegistet. Based on the
foregoing, Respondent's exception should he denied.

6. Respondent tmkes exception to the portion of Paragraph 31
Endnete 10 that states: “for an incoring telephone call, the record of M.R's
phone recorded the time that was used Up taking the incoming call and simply
listed her telephone number as both the originating number and the receiving
number.” Respondent asserts that there is o competent substantial evidence to
support the finding by the ALY.

At the formal hearing, Petitioner presented the testimeny of Merb Graner
a represemlative of Verizon Wireless who testified that, at the ime materal to
this matter, Verizon Wireless, M.R's cellular phone provider, did not have the
capacty or the abillty to record or register Incoming ceflufar phone calls,
However, Mr. Graner testifisd that when a cellular phone subscriber recelves an
incoming call, the mobile number of the subscriber appeats in both the call
ariginating phone number clymn and the call recipient phone number column
(Tr., pp. 52, 56-57; Petitioner's exhibit 3}

Petitioner aiso offered MR's Verizon Wireless Cellular phone bill that
Indicates a call took place on August 16, 2001 beginning at 12:36 p.m. and
ending &t 12:40 pum,, that was recorded with M.’ own telephone number in
both the originating phone number column and the call recipient phone number

column, which is an Indicator of an incoming call, (Petioner’s Exhibit 3).
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Petitioner presented the testimony of M.R. who testified Hhat on Alsgust
16, 2001, while in the presence of the investigators, she received an incoming
&2t on her celliar phone from the Respondent. {Tr., pp, 75-76)

Petitioner slso presemted the testimany of James Wright, one of the
private investigators, who indicated that around lunchtime August 16, 2001 MR.,
while in the presence of the private investigators, received an incoming call on
her cellar phone, Corroborating the cellular phone reconds indicating an
incoming call. (Tr,, p. 177,

The weighing ot evidence and judging of the crediblity of withesses are
so!elyﬂiepmngaﬁveofﬁweAUashﬁeﬁnderufmmmmw. bepartment of

jonal Reguiation. Board of Qptometn

622 S0.2d 607 (Fla. 1* DCA 1993).
There exists competent substantial evidence to Support the ALJ's finding of fact.
Therefore, Respondents exception should b denied,

7. Respondent takes exceplion {0 Paragraph 33 that states "M.R. and
the investigator lett the store and wené to lunch, where they were joineqd by the
second investigator, While at lunch Dr. Cruz called M.R. on her caliyiar phone
and told her that he would pick ber up at the Gracery Store the following day,
August 17, 2001." Respondent asks the Board to re welgh the evidence and
Judge the credibility of witnesses presented at the formal hearing.

At the formal hearing, Petitioner offerad the testimony of Luls Vila, ane of
the private investigators who tonducted surveillance of the Respondent atid
MR., who tesﬁﬁcd that on August 16, 2004, while .mesting with M.R., he

1§
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overheand MR, on her cellular phone and heard her say that she would meet the
caller at the same place, or words to that effect. (Joint bxhibit, pp. 17-18). Mr,
Vila further testified that Immediately foliowing the celtular phane conversation,
M.R. stated that the callor was the Respondent and that he wanted het to meet
her n the Winn Dike parking ok the following day, August 17, 2001, {Joint
Exhibit pp. 17-19).

Pefitioner also presented the testimony of James Wright, another private
investigator, who testified thet on August 16, 2001, whilc the nvestigators were
mueting with M.R,, M.R. received a callular phone call. Mr. Wright testifisd that
following the call M.R. Indicatest to the invedigators that It was the Respondent
who hag called end that they had aranged fo meet al the Winn Dixle the next
. (T, p- 177},

Petitioner also presenled the tastimony of M. who testified that on
August 16, 2001, whila in the presence of the investigators, she received ¥ call
on her cellutar phone from the Respondent. MuR, testified that it was at that Bme
that the Respondent requested she meet him In the Winn Dbde parking iot the
following day. (Tr., pp. 75783,

Petitioner also offered into svidence MRS Verizon Wireless Cellufar
phone bill. The celivtar bl indicales & call togk place on August 16, 2001,
beginning 2t 12:36 p.m, and ending at 12:40 a.m., that was racorded with M.R.%

own tekephone number in both the originating phone number column and the
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call recipient phane number column, which is gn indicator of an Incoming call.
(Petitioner’s Exhibit 3).
The weighing of evidence and judging of the credibility of withesses are

solely the prerogative of the AL as the tinder of fact, Maruccio v. Department of

Professional Regulation, Brard of Qutometry, 622 So.2d 607 (Fla. 15 DCA 1993).
Based on the foregoing, there exdsts competent substuntial evidence in the
tecord o support the AUYS finding. Therefore, the Board must refect
Respondent’s exception,

£ Respondent tpkes excaption 10 Paragraph 33 Endnote 12 that
states “This is consistent with how incoming telephona calls were recorded al
that time and corroborates MJAL's testimony that she raceived a call from Dr.
Cruz that day while ot lunch.” Respondert asks the Board 1o re-waigh the
evidonce and judge the credibility of the wilnusses presented at the formal
hearing.

As stated above, Mr. Graner, a representative of Vorizon Wireless, testifiad
that when a cellular phone subscriber receves an incoming call, the mobile
number of the subscriber appears In both the call originating phone number
column and the call reciplent phone number calumn. (Tr., pp. 52, 56-57).

Petiioner presented the tastimony of Luls Vila, one of the private
investigators, who testified that on August 18, 2004 he overheard M.R. on her
celitiar phone and heard her say that she would meet the calier at the same
biace, or wards to that effect. (Joint Bxhibit, pp, 17-19) My, Vila further testified

A6
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that immedigtely following the cellular phone conversation, M.R. stated that the
cafler was the Respondent and that he wanbed her to meet her In the Winn Dixie
parking lot the following day, August 17, 2001, (Ieint Exhibit pp. 17-15),

Petitioner alse preserted the testimony of James Wright, ancther private
investigator, who testified that on August 16, 2001, while the Investigators were
meeting with MR, MR, received a cellular phone call. Mr. Wright testified that
following the call M.R. indicated to the investigators thut it was the Respondent
who had called and that: the Respondent had requested that she maet um at the
Winn Divde the next day. (Tr., p. 177}

Petttioner aiso presented the testimony of M.R. who testified that on
August 16, 2001, while In the prescnce of the investigators, she recelved a ll
on her callular phone from the Respondent. M.R. testified that it was at that time
that the Respondent requested she meet him in the Winn Dide parking lot the
Tollewing day, (Tr., pp. 75-76).

Petitionsr also offered into evidence MRS Verizon Wircless Cellular
phone bill. The cellufar Lill indicates a call took place on August 16, 2001,
beginning at 12:36 p.m. and ending at 12:40 p.m., that was recorded with MRS
awn telephone number in both the odginating phote number column and the
call recipient phone number column, which Is an indicator of an Incoming call,
{Petttioner's Exhibit 3).

It is the role of the AL to consider all evidence presented, reschve
cordlicts, judge credibility of witnesses, draw permissible inferences from

2
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evidencs, and reach witimabe findings of fact based on substantial competent
evidence. Martusdlo v, Department of Professional Reguiation, Boapd of
Ootometry, 622 50.2d 60/ (Fla. 1% DCA 1993), Based on the foregoing and
evidence, found within the record, there exists competent substantial evidence to
support the ALYe finding. Therefore, the Buard must reject Respondent’s
exception.

9. Respondent takes axveption 0 Paragraph 33, Endnate 12, the
portion that staves = one of the mvestigators, who is fluent In Spanish, overhsand
M.R. say In Spanish that she would meet the person she was speaking with at
the nommal place, teferring to the Grocery Store.” Respondent asks the Board to
re-weigh the avidence and judge the credibility of witnesses,

A the formal hearing, Petfioner offered the testimony of Mr. Viia, a
private hvedtigator, who was fluent in Spanish, who testificd that on August 15,
2004 he gverheard M.R. on her celfular phane and heard her say, in Spanish,
that she wouid meet the caller at the some place, or words to that affect. (Joint
Bxhibt, pp. 17-18). Mr. Vila further testified that immediately foliowing the
cellular phone conversation, MR, stated that the caller was the Respondent and

that he wanted her to meet hirmt In the Winn Oixle parking lot the foliowing day,

August 17, 2001, Qoint Exhibit pp. 17-19).

Petitioner also presented the tostimony of Mr. Wright who testified that an
August 16, 2001, while the private fnvestipators were meeting with MR, MR,
received a celiufar phone cll. Mr. Wright: testified thal immediately following the
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call MR, indicated to the investigators that it was the Respondent who had
called and that the Respondent had requested that she meet Ihirn at the Winn
Nixie the next day. (Tr., p. 177),

Petiioner also presented the testimony of M.R, who testiied that on
August 16, 2001, while in the preschce of the Investigators, she recelved a aall -
on her ceilular phane from the Respondent. M.R. testified that it was at that fime
that the Respondent requested she mest him in the Winp Dixe parking lot ths
toliowing day. (Tr., pp. 75-76).

Petitioper also offered Into evidence MRS Verizon Wirelsss Cellwar
phone bill. The celiular bill indicates a cali took place on August 16, 2001,
beginning at 12:36 p.m. and ending at 12:40 pan., that was recorded with MRS
own telaphona number in both the originating phone numhber column and the
Calt redplent phonc number column, which is an indicator of an incoming call.
(Petitionet’s Exhitit 7).

The weaighing of evidence and Judging of the credibllity of witnesses are
solely the prerogative of the AL as the finder of fact. Martuggio v, Department of

ARSI

~

622 50.2d 607 (Fla. 1% DCA 1443).
Based on the foregoing evidence from the record, there exdsts compebunt
substantial cvidence to support the ALTs finding. Therefore, the Board must
rejoct Respondent’s exception,

10.  Respondent takes exreption to the portion of Paragraph 46 that
shates: "and caused her emotional dlsn'eés, nightmares, siecplessness, confusion,
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and dep_-rt'.ssian." Respondent argues that there 15 no competent evidence i
support this finding by the ALY Respondent asks the Board to re-weigh the
evidence presentesd and judge the credibiiity of the testimony of MR,

At the formal hearing, when asked how the sexual refabionship with the
Respondent affected her, MR, festified that she suffered from nightmares,
sleaplessness, confugion, and depression. (Tr., p. 85, 121).

The Board is not parmitted 1o re~weigh the evidence, judoe the arodibility
of witnesses, or to interpret the evidence, v those are evidentiary matters solely
within tha province of the AL as the finder of fact. Gross v. Dept, of Heellj, 819
S0.2d $97, 1001 (Fla. 5™ DCA 2002), The Board may not re-evaluate the guality
and quantity of the evidence beyond 3 determination of whether the svidence is
competent and substantial, Brogan v, Carter, 671 So.2d 822, 823 (Fla. 1% DCA
1956). The ALT's finding that, as a result of Respondent’s vidlation of the
psychotheraplst-patient relationship apd his exploiation of M.R., MR suffered

emotional distress, nightrares, sleeplessness, confusion, and depression is
hased upon competent substantial evidence, Thercfore, the Board should deny
Respondent’s sxception.
E USION
1. Respondent takes exception to Paragraph 50 and Endnote 16 to
the cgent thet fhe AL suggests thet Respondent violsted Setton
458.331{1¥m), Florida Statutes, and that the issue of whether a physidan

24
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viclated the standard of care provided is not relevant to whether medical records
]'u'stiﬁed_t—!'\e care,

As stated by the ALY, the kssue of whether Respondent viblsted the
standard of care is not relevanl lo whether Respondent’s medical records
vioiated Section 458.331(i)m), Fiorida Statutes. Petitioncr did not allege Hat
Respondent's medical records violated Section 458.331{1)(1), Fiorida Statutes, by
faling below the stndard of care. Rather, Petitiner alleged I the
Administrative Complaint thet Respondert’s medical records violsted Section
458,331(1)(m), Floride Statutes. Fafling to keep legivie medical records that
Mentify e Scensed physican or the physidan extenter and supervising
physician by name and professiona! Ltle who Is or are responsibie for reﬁdartng,

grdering, supervising, or billing for each diagnostic or treatment procedure and
that justify the course of treatment of the petient, including, hut nott lintted to,
patient historles; examingtion results; test results; records of drugs prescribed,
dispensed, o administered; pnd reports of consullations and hospltalzations
constitutas grounds for discipinary ection by the Board of Medicine,  Section
458.331(1)(m), Florida Stotutes. '

At the formal hearng, Pelitfoner's expert, Dr. Joseph, testified that
Respondent’s medical records for MR, are illegible, cursory, or facking in
substance, and appear generic. Dr, Joseph opired that the medical records
appeared Interchangeable and falied to indicate what wes happening with MR,
between the sessions, (Petitioner's exhibit 7, 46-47), Pettioner also sdmitted
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MR medical reconds into evidence for the ALY's review and consideration.
{Joint BXNIDIE 1).

" The Board may ot reject or modify conclusions of faw unless  states
with particularity its reasons for dofng 50 and makes a finding that its substituted
conclusion of law is as or more reasonable than that which was rejected or
medified. Sectlon 120.57(1)D), Florids Statutes. Tha ALY found that the
Petitioner proved clearly and convincingly that the Respondent’s mecical records
for M.R. violated Section 458.331(1Y(m}, Florida Statutes, This concluskon of law
ls oonsistent with the evidence und testimony presented concming
Respondent’s medical records for MR Respondent fails to artieulote a
substituterd conclusion of taw that Is 25 or more reasonabic than that made by
the AL). Therefore, tha Respondent’s exception should be denied.

2.  Respphdent takes exception fo Paragraph 69 that stales "Based
upon the testimony of Dr. Joseph, this charge has also been provad,”
Petitioner’s expert, Dr. Joseph, testified that Respondert’s medical records

tor M.R. are iliegitle, cursory, or lacking in substance, and appear generic. Dr,
Joseph opined that the medical records appegred Interchangeable and falled to
indicate what wes happening with MR botween the sessions. (Petitioner's
exhiblt 7, pp. 46473,

The Board my not reject or modify conclusions of law uniess Xt states
with particularity its reasons for doing so and makes a finding that s substituted
conclusion of law is as or mure reasonabie than that which was rejected or

26
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modified, Section 120.57(1)(), Florida Statutes. The ALY finding that the
Petitioner proved dearly and convircingly that Respondent’s medical records for
Patient MR, violated Sectton 458.331(1Xm), Florida Statutes, is consistant with
the evidence and testimony presented concerning Respandent’s madicat records
Tor M.R. Respondent Fails to articulate a substituted conclusion of law that is as
or more‘reasonable than that made by the ALY Therefore, the Respondent’s
exception should ba denied,

WHEREFORE, Petitoner requests that Respondent's Excaptions to “The
Recommended Order be denied, with the exception of the clarification in
Paragraph 9.

Services Unft
4052 Bald Cypress Way, Bin C-65
Taliahassee, FL 32399-3265
Florida Bar No.: 0645311
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- CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

ard United States Mall, to counsel for Respondent, Jon Peliet, Esquire, of Barr,
Murman, Tonelli, Siother & S 201 East Kennedy Beulevard, Sufte
1700, Tempa, Florida 33602, this D of May 2004,
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ATTACEMENT A
STANDARD TERMS APPLICABLE TO ALL FINAL ORDERS

The following are the standard terms applicable to all Final .

Orders, including supervision and monitoring provisions

applicable to licensees on probation.

A,

COMPLIANCE WITH STATE AND FEDERAL LAWS AND RULES,
Respondent shall comply with all state and federal statutes,
7ules and regulations pertaining to the practice of
medicine, including Chapters 456, 458, 8953, Florida
Statutes, and Rule Chapter 64BE, Florida Administrative
Code. If Respondent is subject to criminal probation,
Respondent shall comply with all terms and conditions of
said criminal probaticn.

PAYMENT OF FINES AND COSTS, Unlegs otherwise directed by
Final Ordexr, all fines and costs shall be paid by check or
money order made payable to the Board and sent to DOH/Client
Services, P.0O. Box 6320, Tallahassee, Florida 32314-6320,
WITEIN 30 DAYS OF THE FILING OF THE FINAL ORDER. The
Board/Compliance cffice does NOT have the authority to
change the terms of payment of any fine imposed by the
Boaxd. |

ADDRRSSES. Respondent must keep curxrent residence and
practice addresses on file with the Board. Respondent shall

notify the Compliance Office, in writing, within 10 days of

1




any changes of tbhose addresses. Furthermore, if the
Respondent’s license is on probation, the Respondent shall
notify the Compliance Office within 10 days in the event
that Respondent leaves the active practice of wedicine in

Floxrida.

COMPLIANCE ADDRESS, Unless otherwise directed, all reports,

correspondence and inguiries shall be gent to: DOHE, Client
Services Unit, 4052 Bald Cypress Way, Bin #C0l, Tallahassee,

Florida 32399-3251, Attn: Medical Compliance Officer.

CONTINUITY OF PEACTICE
1. TOLLING PROVISIONS., In the event the Respondent leaves

the State of Florida for a pericd of 30 days oxr more or
otherwise doeg not or may not engage in the active practice
of medicine in the State of Florida, then certain provisions
of the requirements in the Final Oxrder shall be tolled and
shall remain in a tolled status until Respondent returns to
the active practice of medicine in the State of Florida.
Respondent shall notify the Compliance QOfficer 10 days prior
to hil)h.r return to practice in the State of Florida.
Unlesg otherwise set forth in the Final Order, the following
recuiremeate and ooly the following requiremsnts shall be
tolled until the Respondent returns to active practice:

a. The time pericd of probation ghall be tolled.

b, The provisions regarding supervision whether direct
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or indirect by the monitor/supervisor, and regquired
reports from the monitor/supervisor shall be tolled.
¢. The requirement for quality assurance review of
Respondent’s practice shall be tolled.
d. Any provisions regarding community service ghall be
tolled.
&, Any requirements regarding lectures on the subject
of wrong-site surgery.

2. ACTIVE PRACTICE, In the event that Respondent leaves the

active practice of medicine for a period of ocme year or

more, the Resﬁondent may be regquired to appear before the

Board and demonstrate the ability to practice medicine with
reasonable gkill and safety to patients prior to resuming
the practice of medicine in the State of Florida..

F. QQHMHHIII_EﬁB!IQE_hHD_QQHIINEIHG_EDHQAIIQE;DHIIE; Unless
otherwise directed by Final Order, all community service
regquirements, continuing education units/courses must be
completed, and documentation of such completion submitted to
DOH/Client Services, at the address set forth in paragraph
D., WITHIN dHE YEAR OF THE DATE OF THE FINAL ORDER.

1. DREFINITION OF COMMUNITY SERVICE, “Community

service” shall be defined as the delivery of medical
services directly to patients, or the delivery of

other volunteer services to an entity which is exempt
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from federal taxation under 26 U.S.C. s. 501(c) (3),

without fee or cost to the patient or the entity, for
the good of the people of the State of Florida.
Community service shall be performed outside the
physician’s regular practice setting.

2. CONTINUING EDUCATION, Continuing education imposed
by Final Order shall be in additicon to those hours
required for hiennial renewal of licensure. Unless
otherwise approved by the Board or the Chairperson of
the Probation Committee, sgaid continuing education

courses shall consgist of a formal live lecture format.

FROBATION TERMS., If probation was imposed by the Final

Crder, the following pfovisions are applicable.

& DEFINITIONS:

54~1§213§§1;§§REB!I§IQK is supervision by a monitoring
physician (mcnitcr); as set forth in the Final Order,
whose responsibilities are get by the Board. Indirect
supervision does not reguire that the monitor practice
on the same premisges as the Respondent. However, the
monitor ghall practice within a reasonable geographic
proximity to Respondent, which sﬁall be within 20
miles unless otherwise approved by the Board and shall
be :eadily'avaiiabierfor consultation. The monitor .

shall be board-certified in the Respondent’s specialty



area unless otherwige approved by the Board or ite

designee.
umm:m is supervision by a Supervising
Physician (supervisor), as get forth in the Final

-Order, whose Yesponsibilities are set by the Board.

Respondent work in the same office. The sBupervigor
shall be board-certified in the Respondent’sg specialty
area unless otherwise approved by the Board or itg
designee.

giﬁzzgaangu_gguuzzmxg or fCommittee' are members of -
the Board of Medicine designated by the Chair of the
Board to serve as the Probation Committee.
24_EHQHIEED_EHEEBII£IQH;

4. If the terms of the Final Order inciude indirect
menitoring of the licensee’s Practice {monitoring) or

direct monitoring of the licensee’sg Practice

(supervision), the %m

m‘mm“—mmnumm
M—Mh’—mm“umuwm

by the Boara,

b. The monitor/supervisor must be licensed under
Chapter 458, Florida Statutes, in good standing, and

without restriction or limitation on hig/her license.
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In addition, the Board or Committee may reject any
Proposed monitor/supervisor on the basis that he/ghe -

- has previously been subject to any disciplinary actien
against his/her medical license in this or any other
Jurisdiction, is currently under investigation, or ig
the subject of a Pending disciplinary action, The
monitor/supervisor must be actively engaged in the
same or gimilar specialty area unlegs otherwige
approved by the Board or Committee and be Practicing
within a reasonable distance of the Respondent‘’g
practice, a distance of no more than 20 miles unless
otherwisge specifically provided for in the Final
Order. The monitor/supervisor must not be a relative
or employee of the Respondent. The Board, Committee
Or designee may alsc reject any Proposed
monitor/supervigor for good cause ghown.
LJQWM‘_ The Board confers authority
on the C!ha.;!.x of the Probation C;:rmnit.tae to temporarily
- approve Réspondent's monitor/supervisor. To obtain
this temporary approval, Respondent shal}l Bubmit to
the Compliance Officer the name and curriculum vitae
of the proposed monitor/supervisor. This information
ghall be furnighed to the Chair of the Probation

éomittee by way of the Compliance Officer, within 48
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hours after Respondent receives the Final Order in

this matter. This information may be faxed to the
Conpliance Officer at (850) 414-0864, or may be sent
by overnight mail to the Compliance address as set
forth in paragraph D. above. In order to provide time
for Respondent’s Proposed supervisory/monitoring
physician to be approved or disapproved by the Chair
of the Probation Committee, Respondent ghall be
allowed to practice medicine while approval isg being
sought, but only for a Period of five working days
after Respondent receives the Final Order. If
Respondent’sg supervising/monitoring physician has not
been approvead during that time frame, thén Respondent
shall cease practicing until such time as the
supervising/monitoring Physician is temporarily
approved. 1In the event that the Proposed
monitoring/supervising physician is not approved, then
Respondent shall cease practicing immediately. Should
Respondent’s monitoring/supervising rphysician be
approved, saild approval ghall only remain in effect

until the next meeting of the Prcobaticner’sg Committee,

approved, Temporary approval shall only remain in
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effect until the next meeting of the Probation

Committee.

4. FORMAL APPROVAL. Respondent shall have the

monitox/supervigor with him/her at the first Probation
appearance before the Probation Committee. Pribr to
consideration of the monitor/supervisor by the
Committee, the Respondent shall provide the
monitor/supervigor a Copy of the Administrative
Complaint and the Final Order in this case.

Respondent shall sgubmit a current curriculum vitae, a
description of current Practice, and a letter agreeing
to serve from the proposed monitor/supervisor to the
Compliance Officer no later than fourteen days before
the Respondent’s first scheduled probation appearance.
Respondent’sg monitor/supervisor ghall also arpear
before the Probation Committee at such times as
directed by the Committee. It sﬁall be the
Respondent’s responsibility ﬁo ensure the appearance
of hig/her moniteor/superviecr as directed. PFailure of
the monitor/supervigsor to appear as directed ghall
constitute a violation of the terms of the Final Order
and may subject the Reepondent to additicnal

disciplinary action.

2. CHANGE IN MONITOR/SUPERVISOR. In the event that




Respondent ‘g monitor/supervisor is unable or nnwilling

to fulfil] hig/her Tesponsibilities ag a

Compliance Cffice the name of a temporary

monitor/supervisor for consideration, Respondent

Lommittee, Purthermore, Respondent ghall make
arrangements with hig/her temporary monitor/supervisor
to appear before the Probation Committee at its next
regulafly Bcheduled meeting for consideration of the
monitor/supervisor by the Committee, Respondent shall
only practice under the Supervision of the temporary
monitor/supervisor (approved by the Chair) unti] the
next regularly scheduled meeting of the Probation
Committee whereat the igsue of the Committee’s
approval of the Responden:'s new monitor/supervigor
shall be addressed.

£. REPORTS,

a. If directed by Final Order, Probation Treports, in
affidavit form, shall be submitted by the Respondent

and shall contain the following:
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(2)
(3)
(4)

(s)

(6)

(1
(2)
(3)

(4)

(s)

Brief statement of why physician is on probation.

Practice location.

Describe current practice (type and composition).
Brief statement of compliance with probationary
terms.

Describe relationship with monitoring/supervieing
physician.

Advige Compliance Officer of any problems
including office incident xeports filed; loss or
restriction of hospital staff privilegee; loss or
restriction of DEA registration; or any
Medicare/Medicaid program exclusions,

restrictions or limitations.

b. MONITOR/SUPERVIESOR REPORIS. If directed by Final
Order, monitor/supervisor reports, in affidavit form

ghall include the following:

Erief gtatement of why physician is on probation.
Description of probationer’s practice.

Brief statement of probationer’s coupliance with
terms of probation.

Brief description of probationer’s relationship
with monitoring éhysician.

Detail any problems which may have arisen with

probaticner,
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